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Chairman’s Statement

ETRE®RE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the "Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the "Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”, "FY2025"
or the "reporting period”).

During the Year, Hong Kong developers kept cautious attitude in
investing new projects in view of the glut of unsold residential units
and unprecedented vacancy rates of offices in Hong Kong. Keen
competition in local building construction market sustained and gross
profit margins of new projects were further depressed. We maintained
the prudent approach on bidding new projects and strived to secure
our backlog with reasonable gross profit margins.

The Group's gross profit margin slightly decreased by 0.8% and its
gross profit was slightly decreased by HK$0.2 million for the FY2025,
compared to that of prior financial year. As the Group's overall gross
profit margin squeezed by fierce competition, we maintained high
emphasis on costs control measures, while insisted on high standard
of work quality and safety, in order to reduce to negative impact from
tight project budgets.

As Hong Kong is experiencing a slowdown in economic momentum
resulting from lessened domestic demand and global economy
uncertainties, it is expected that the numbers of new residential
and commercial properties development projects would remain
relatively low in the coming year. Despite some recovery support by
governmental measures, it would take time to get through the winter.
We are prepared to enhance our competitive strengths to maintain our
market share and profitability.

In view of the challenges in Hong Kong building construction market
and considering the Group's healthy cash position, we have been
proactively seeking potential opportunities for expanding the Group's
business. In May 2025, as disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 23 May 2025 and 30 May 2025 respectively, the Group entered
into a joint venture agreement with a company incorporated in
Macau for the establishment of a joint venture company to operate
a restaurant in Macau. The Board believes it is timely and prudent to
pursue selective investment opportunities to broaden the Group's
income base and enhance resilience through diversification.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETRE®E

| would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to
our shareholders, business partners and customers, as well as our
management and staff for their utmost support.

Chu Kwok Fun
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a subcontractor engaged in the provision of design, supply,
and installation services for facade works and building metal finishing
works in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 17 projects in progress with a total
original contract sum of approximately HK$752.3 million. Total revenue
of approximately HK$259.8 million was recognised during the FY2025.

During the Year, the Group has been awarded 10 new projects
with a total contract sum of approximately HK$243.0 million, which
comprise 6 projects for facade works and 4 projects for building metal
finishing works. As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding value of our
projects on hand was approximately HK$323.5 million, as compared to
approximately HK$327.2 million as at 31 March 2024.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

The economic outlook of Hong Kong is full of challenges. The
uncertainties resulted from geopolitical tensions and protectionism,
as well as the volatility from US Federal rate decisions, all put pressure
and constitute additional risks on Hong Kong's economy.

The existing unsold residential units, as well as the projected private
flat supply for the next three to four years, in Hong Kong maintains
at a high level. Property developers remain cautious to invest in new
construction projects in the local private residential properties market.
In addition, record-high office vacancy rates and decline in office
rents depress the demand of new commercial properties, leading to a
significant drop in commercial properties development projects in the
Hong Kong market.

Despite of the abovementioned challenges, we believe that following
the foreseeable integration of Greater Bay Area, Hong Kong economy
will maintain stable growth and thus stimulate numerous opportunities
to the Group in long term.

In short term, we are prepared to implement more cost control
measures for mitigating the onslaught of the abovementioned
challenges. With our experienced management team and reputation
in the market, we are confident that the Group can leverage its
competitive strengths to maintain our market share and capture future
opportunities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MEEJEH—J-HH& *ﬁ'

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
The table below sets forth an analysis of our revenue by the types of
services provided for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024:

Bt % B B8

&

TR EE_ZE-_AFR T _WMF=A
=+ B FERATRERBERE DS
DT

Year ended 31 March
BE=RA=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
—B-RF —TF
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TERT % FHET %
Facade works HNETHE 186,452 71.8 151,755 62.5
Building metal finishing works RSB IR 73,374 28.2 90,883 37.5
Total #mEt 259,826 100.0 242,638 100.0

The Group's revenue increased by approximately HK$17.2 million or
7.1% from approximately HK$242.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2024 (the "Previous Year” or "FY2024") to approximately HK$259.8
million for the Year. The increase in revenue recognised was primarily
attributed to the increased number of facade works projects awarded
and kick-started during the Year.

The table below sets forth an analysis of our revenue by sectors for the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024:

AEBMKFRHEE S -_NF=F=1+—H
HFE(LEL—FEISX—E-_NFHERFE])
B#9242.6 8 EBTTE N7 28 EHBITHT 1%
ERFEMHI259.8FEETT - BHER G N
DEEERAFEERKFAREMNIMETEEER
EEEM -

TREJBE_FT-_RAFR-_FT_WF=A
=t— EUJ:EE&E‘%E'J%J D EVRER DT

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-HF —EmE

HK$'000 % HK$'000 %

FHET % FHET %

Residential properties FEWE 158,357 60.9 145,974 60.2
Commercial properties [EEX/ES 219 0.1 1,202 0.5
Public facilities NERE 101,250 39.0 95,462 39.3
Total st 259,826 100.0 242,638 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) B # E RE (50

Gross profit and gross profit margin EFRERN=R

The table below sets forth an analysis of the amount of gross profit TER&EHIHBE_T-_RAFR_FT_MNF= A
and the gross profit margin by types of services for the years ended 31 =+—HIEFEIZRBELE D ER B L
March 2025 and 2024: ESE SR

Year ended 31 March
BE=RA=1+—HLEE

2025 2024

—B-RF —EmEF
Gross profit Gross profit
margin margin
HK$'000 (%) HK$'000 (%)
EF= EM=E
FHET (%) THETT (%)
Facade works SR TR 19,205 10.3 16,101 10.6
Building metal finishing works RSB T2 6,979 9.5 10,292 1.3
Total wEt 26,184 10.1 26,393 10.9

The Group’s gross profit slightly decreased by approximately AEEMEFH - -WNFHERFERNL26.4
HK$0.2 million from approximately HK$26.4 million for the FY2024 B E&BTEHRL N0 2BEEATEZE-_T -1
to approximately HK$26.2 million for the FY2025. The gross profit FHBFEREMLI262BE BT o EFIEHZ
margin slightly decreased from approximately 10.9% for the FY2024 to ~ Z N BFEMNHN109%B MBI 2 2F
approximately 10.1% for the FY2025. The decrease of the Group's gross = R F B BUFEHI#110.1% ° 25 B EF &5
profit margin was mainly due to lower gross profit margins of projects ATV EEZHREE TS H T MZL » EHAFE
newly awarded during the Year as a result of fierce competition in  ¥TTEREYIE B HEF|ETE o

Hong Kong market.

The table below sets forth an analysis of the amount of gross profitand TEREHINBE_Z-_RAFR T _MF= A
the gross profit margin by sectors for the years ended 31 March 2025 =-+—HIEFEZAFE DK EFSEREF
and 2024: S

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024

—E-RF —FopmE
Gross profit Gross profit
margin margin
HK$'000 (%) HK$'000 (%)
ER=H ERE
FET (%) FHET (%)
Residential properties FEWHE 16,298 10.3 17,680 12.1
Commercial properties [GEX/ES 115 52.5 951 79.1
Public facilities ~ERE 9,771 9.7 7,762 8.1
Total mst 26,184 10.1 26,393 10.9
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MEEJEH—J-HH& *ﬁ

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin (Continued)

The gross profit margin of commercial properties projects sustained at
relatively high level in FY2025 and FY2024 since the variation orders of
certain projects were assessed by main contractors at amounts higher
than budgeted after negotiation, leading to recognition of additional
revenue in the years.

Other income and losses, net

During the FY2025, we recognised other income and losses, net of
approximately HK$2.6 million, as compared with other income of
approximately HK$1.7 million recognised during the FY2024. The
amount recognised for the Year mainly contributed from bank interest
income of approximately HK$2.6 million, while that for the Previous
Year included bank interest income of approximately HK$1.2 million
and income from a life insurance policy of HK$526,000.

Net impairment losses (recognised) reversed under
expected credit loss model

The amounts represent impairment losses, net of reversal, made
on trade receivables and contract assets. The Group recognised
an impairment loss of approximately HK$310,000 in respect of the
entire balance of retention receivable due from a customer, net of
the reversal of non-credit-impaired lifetime expected credit losses
of approximately HK$25,000, leaded to the net impairment losses of
approximately HK$285,000 for the Year.

The net impairment losses reversed of approximately HK$248,000 in
the Previous Year was resulted from the reversal of impairment losses
on contract assets of approximately HK$319,000, net of impairment
losses of HK$71,000 recognised on trade receivables.

Operating and administrative expenses

Operating and administrative expenses include staff costs, depreciation
and amortisation, marketing and promotion expenses, travelling, office
and utility expenses, legal and professional fees and other expenses.
For the FY2025, the Group's operating and administrative expenses
were approximately HK$24.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$1.8 million or 7.7% from approximately HK$22.9
million for the FY2024. The increase was mainly attributable to an
increase in staff costs recognised as operating and administrative
expenses of approximately HK$1.4 million, and an increase in legal
and professional expenses of approximately HK$0.3 million during the
FY2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interests on bank borrowings and interests
on lease liabilities. The former refers to the interest cost incurred
for borrowings raised from banks while the latter refers to interest
portion included in the lease payments under the leases of renting
office premises and office equipment for operating uses. For the
FY2025, the finance costs were approximately HK$136,000, decreased
by approximately HK$1.3 million from approximately HK$1.4 million
for the FY2024. The decrease in finance costs was mainly due to the
decrease in interests on bank borrowings.

Income tax expense

The Group's income tax expense for the FY2025 comprises deferred
tax expense of HK$444,000 (FY2024: HK$609,000). The deferred tax
expense for the FY2025 and FY2024 was mainly attributed to the
utilisation of tax loss recognised as deferred tax asset in prior years.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group's net profit for the Year
slightly decreased by approximately HK$0.1 million from approximately
HK$3.3 million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$3.2 million
for the Year.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$123.2 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$118.4 million).
The current ratio of the Group calculated based on the Group's total
current assets divided by total current liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period was approximately 4.9 times as at 31 March 2025 (31
March 2024: approximately 3.7 times).

The Group finances its operations primarily through a combination
of cash flows generated from operations and bank borrowings. The
increase of current ratio and bank balances was primarily attributable
to the net cash flow generated from its operation during the Year.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$63.4 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$75.5

million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

Bank borrowings

As at 31 March 2025, the maximum limit of the banking facilities
available to the Group amounted to approximately HK$76.5 million,
out of which an amount of approximately HK$20.7 million was utilised
for performance guarantees.

The Group did not utilise any banking facilities for bank borrowings as
at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024. The gearing ratio of the Group,
calculated based on the Group's total bank borrowings divided by
total equity and multiplied by 100%, was zero as at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024.

The Group has adopted a prudent approach in financial resources
management. In the management of the liquidity, the Group continues
to monitor and maintain adequate cash and cash equivalents as well as
banking facilities to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

Capital structure

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to the
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.
There has been no change in the capital structure of the Company
throughout the Year.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2025, the pledged bank deposits of approximately
HK$3.0 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$3.0 million) have
been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group given
by a bank.

As at 31 March 2025, the lease liabilities of approximately HK$0.8
million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$3.0 million) are secured by
rental deposits with carrying values of approximately HK$0.7 million (31
March 2024: approximately HK$0.7 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MEEJEH—J-HH& *ﬁ'

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

Foreign exchange exposures

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to certain procurement of raw material with Renminbi. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
group entities’ functional currency. The Group however considers that
the currency risk of those monetary liabilities is not significant and did
not engage in any derivatives agreements and did not commit to any
financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the
Year. The management of the Group will monitor foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Capital expenditure

Our principal capital expenditures relate primarily to investments in
property and equipment excluding right-of-use assets. During the
Year, the Group incurred capital expenditure of HK$1.5 million (FY2024:
HK$40,000).

Capital commitments and contingent liabilities

The detailed information of performance guarantees of the Group as
at 31 March 2025 is set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, there is no other capital commitment and contingent
liabilities that the Group is aware of.

Significant investments, acquisition and disposals

There were no significant investments held, acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group during the
reporting period.

Future plans for material investments and capital assets
Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group did not

have other plans for material investments or capital assets as at 31
March 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MEEJEH—J-HH& *ﬁ

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 50 (31 March 2024: 57) full time
employees (including two executive Directors but excluding three
independent non-executive Directors). The decrease in the number
of employees was mainly attributable to the decrease in the number
of project staff. The Group has implemented a tight cost control
and adjusts the number of project staff based on the progress and
expected workload of our construction works and the expected
completion dates of work projects. The number of administrative staff
was relatively stable as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The remuneration package offered to employees includes salary
and other employee benefits such as bonus. In general, the Group
determines the salaries of its employees based on their individual
performance, qualifications, experiences and position held. The Group
conducts annual salary and promotion review in order to attract and
retain employees. In addition, the Group provides and organises
various types of training to its employees to elevate overall efficiency,
employee loyalty and morale. Total staff costs for the FY2025 were
approximately HK$36.9 million (FY2024: approximately HK$37.2

million).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group had entered into a
joint venture agreement with a company incorporated in Macau for the
establishment of a joint venture company to operate a North-eastern
Chinese cuisine restaurant in Macau, details of which were set out in
the Company'’s announcements dated 23 May 2025 and 30 May 2025
respectively.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this annual report, the Board

is not aware of any significant events, which have material effect on the
Group, occurred after 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEBREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Kwok Fun

Mr. Chu Kwok Fun, aged 54, is our executive Director, chairman of the
Board (“Chairman”), chief executive officer, and one of our controlling
shareholders. Mr. Chu has been the sole shareholder and the sole
director of ICGL Technical Works (HK) Limited (“ICGL (Hong Kong)”)
since its incorporation on 4 May 2007. Mr. Chu was appointed as a
Director on 14 November 2018 and was redesignated as an executive
Director on 19 September 2019. Mr. Chu is primarily responsible for
the overall management, strategic planning, and development of
our business operations. Mr. Chu is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the sole director of Plateau Star Limited, a subsidiary
of the Company.

Mr. Chu has over 27 years of work experience in construction project
management.

Mr. Chu graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (presently known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with the higher diploma in
structural engineering in October 1992.

Mr. Chen Shu An

Mr. Chen Shu An, aged 37, was appointed as an executive Director and
a member of the Remuneration Committee on 11 June 2024. Mr. Chen
has been appointed as the sole director of HCD Capital Limited ("HCD
Capital”) and HCD International Limited (“"HCD International”), which
are subsidiaries of the Company, since 14 June 2024.

Mr. Chen has started his career in Guangwu Automobile Trade Co.,
Ltd. as a salesperson from January 2012 to October 2014. He worked
in Guangwu Junle Automobile Sales and Service Co., Ltd. as a sales
manager from October 2014 to April 2017 and served in Guangzhou
Weichuang Auto Renting Co., Ltd. as a deputy general manager
from May 2017 to August 2019 and had since then developed strong
interests in entrepreneurship. He founded Guangzhou Happy Travel
Auto Service Co., Ltd. in September 2019 and served as its general
manager from September 2019 to August 2021. From November
2020 to April 2022, he worked in Guangzhou Jungang Automobile
Co., Ltd. and Shenzhen Junhao Automobile Co., Ltd. as one of the
founders and general manager. During September 2021 to May 2024,
he was employed by Zhurong International Enterprises Management
(Guangzhou) Group Limited as a deputy general manager and was
responsible for its internal control and risk management.

Mr. Chen graduated from the Chinese People’'s Liberation Army
University of International Relations (presently known as the School of
International Relations, National University of Defense Technology,
PLA) in 2011 with a bachelor’s degree in English.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEBEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Leung Yin Fai

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 March 2020. Ms. Leung is the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Leung has over 30 years of experience in accounting and corporate

services.

Ms. Leung has been a director of K E Corporate Services Limited (a
company secretarial services provider) since April 2016, the managing
director of K E Management & Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since
August 2015. Ms. Leung was an independent non-executive director of
Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 0061)
from April 2014 to January 2020 and was a director of KCS Hong Kong
Limited from August 2008 to October 2014.

Ms. Leung has been an associate member of Hong Kong Society of
Accountants (presently known as The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") since September 1990, a fellow
member of The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants
(presently known as The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants) in the United Kingdom and CPA Australia since July 1995
and May 2004, respectively. Ms. Leung obtained a master's degree of
commerce in international professional accounting from The University
of New South Wales, in November 2002.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEBREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 March 2020. Mr. Ma is the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of both the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Ma has over 37 years of experience in accounting and finance
matters. He is an independent non-executive director of Chinese
Estates Holdings Limited (stock code: 127).

Mr. Ma graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (presently known as
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a professional diploma
in accountancy in November 1987. Mr. Ma then obtained a master’s
degree of business administration and a master’s degree of science
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1997 and
December 2003, respectively. In October 2009, Mr. Ma obtained a
master’s degree of science in China business studies from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Ma has been an associate member of Hong Kong Society of
Accountants (presently known as the HKICPA) since September
1990. Mr. Ma has been an associate member in October 1990
and subsequently a fellow member of The Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants (presently known as The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants) since November 1995.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEBEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Ms. Yuen Wai Yee

Ms. Yuen Wai Yee, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 March 2020. Ms. Yuen is a member of both the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Ms. Yuen has over 27 years of work experience in corporate finance,
accounting, and company secretarial matters.

Ms. Yuen graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
bachelor’'s degree of arts in accountancy (honours) in November 2004.
Ms. Yuen then obtained a master's degree of business administration
from Heriot-Watt University, a university based in Edinburgh, Scotland,
the United Kingdom in November 2010. Ms. Yuen has been a member
and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since November 2003 and November 2008, respectively,
and a certified public accountant of the HKICPA since April 2004.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsang Chiu Wan

Mr. Tsang Chiu Wan, aged 66, joined us as a general manager of ICGL
(Hong Kong) in February 2011. Mr. Tsang is primarily responsible for
supervising, managing, and overseeing the day-to-day operation and
administration of our business operations. Mr. Tsang served as an
executive Director of the Company from September 2019 to August
2024. On 16 August 2024, Mr. Tsang retired by rotation from office
of executive Director in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company and, although being eligible, did not offer himself
for re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company due
to his desire to retire at the age of 65 and to devote more time to his
personal endeavours.

Mr. Tsang has more than 31 years of experience in business
management.

Mr. Tsang graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor's degree of social sciences in November 1981.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEBREFE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Mo Wan Fai

Mr. Mo Wan Fai, aged 62, joined us as a senior manager of ICGL
(Hong Kong) on 22 September 2011 and was promoted as a senior
manager (tender and procurement) of ICGL (Hong Kong) on 1 January
2019. Mr. Mo is responsible for tendering, managing contracts with
subcontractors and project budgeting.

Mr. Mo has over 42 years of work experience in project planning,
project estimation and management in construction industry.

Mr. Mo graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (presently known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a higher certificate in
building studies in November 1990. Mr. Mo also obtained a bachelor’s
degree of applied science, construction management and economics
from Curtin University of Technology in February 2004.

Mr. Phua Chau Yuen

Mr. Phua Chau Yuen, aged 41, joined us as a project manager of ICGL
(Hong Kong) on 1 November 2012 and was promoted as a senior
project manager of ICGL (Hong Kong) on 1 January 2019. Mr. Phua
was further promoted as the assistant general manager of ICGL (Hong
Kong) on 1 January 2022. He is responsible for the overall coordination
and management of assigned projects, including project design, site
supervision, and completion for our facade works and building metal
finishing works projects.

Mr. Phua has over 19 years of work experience in construction projects
management.

Mr. Phua graduated from City University of Hong Kong with an
associate’s degree of science in construction engineering and
management and a bachelor’s degree of engineering (honours) in
building engineering (structural and geotechnical engineering) in
November 2005 and February 2010, respectively.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEBEREFE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Wong Yuen On

Mr. Wong Yuen On, aged 55, has been appointed as the project
director of ICGL (Hong Kong) since 1 October 2023. He is responsible
for the overall management of the project team of ICGL (Hong Kong).

Mr. Wong has over 30 years of work experience in construction projects
management with 19 years relating to facade works and building metal
finishing works. Mr. Wong worked in various construction companies in
various roles during the period from 1994 to 2024. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Wong worked as the chief project manager of the principal
operating subsidiary of Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1897) during the period from 2006 to 2023.

Mr. Wong graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (presently known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a bachelor of science
in building technology and management in November 1994. Mr.
Wong then obtained a master’s degree of science in construction
management from The University of Bath in January 2006.

Ms. Lo Hoi Ting

Ms. Lo Hoi Ting, aged 40, joined us as officer (tender and procurement)
of ICGL (Hong Kong) on 6 February 2017 and was promoted as the
head of the Human Resources Department of ICGL (Hong Kong)
in February 2025. Ms. Lo is responsible for overseeing the human
resources matters of the Group.

Ms. Lo has over 18 years of work experience in accounting, office
administration, human resources, and quantity surveying, with a

specialization in the construction field.

Ms. Lo obtained a Diploma in Business Management from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in October 2011.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEBREFE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ms. Lee Pui Ling

Ms. Lee Pui Ling, aged 60, has been appointed as the head of
purchasing department of ICGL (Hong Kong) since 27 June 2011.
Ms. Lee is responsible for the co-ordination of purchasing orders of
building materials, maintaining business relationship with suppliers and
overseeing the operations of the purchasing department.

Ms. Lee has over 38 years of work experience in purchasing and
logistics management. She has worked as a purchaser in the
international procurement operation division of LG Electronics HK
Limited for more than 12 years, responsible for handling global
purchasing orders for its headquarters and coordinate logistics of
those orders.

Ms. Lee obtained a diploma in logistics management from Hong Kong
College of Technology in August 2010.

Mr. Yeung Kin Wa
Mr. Yeung Kin Wa, aged 40, joined us as a consultant in July 2020 and
was appointed as the chief financial officer, the company secretary
and an authorised representative of the Company on 23 December
2020. Mr. Yeung is responsible for overseeing financial and compliance
matters of our Group.

Mr. Yeung is a member of the HKICPA since March 2013 and has more
than 16 years of experience in auditing and accounting. He obtained a
bachelor's degree of business administration in accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2008. From August 2011
to December 2012, Mr. Yeung has been a senior accountant in the
assurance department of Ernst & Young and has been an accountant in
the corporate team of Chevalier International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 0025) from March 2013 to September 2015. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Yeung worked as the financial controller of Lake Chong
Fa Catering Group Limited, a group operating restaurants serving
Chinese cuisines in Macau.

Mr. Yeung has been appointed as a member of the Appeal Panel
(Housing) for a period of 2 years with effect from 1 April 2024.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yeung Kin Wa was appointed as the company secretary of our
Company on 23 December 2020. He is mainly responsible for financial
management, corporate governance and overall corporate secretarial
matters of our Group. Details of his qualifications and experience are
set out in the paragraph headed “Senior Management” above.
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Directors’ Report

EEGHRE

The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year (the
“Consolidated Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 33 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. There were no significant changes in the nature
of the Group's principal activities during the Year.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segment reporting are set out in Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and outlook of the Group for the Year are set out
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 14 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries during the Year are set out in
Note 33 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
99 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2024: Nil).
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Directors’ Report

EESHRE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting (the "AGM") will
be held on Friday, 15 August 2025. A notice convening the AGM will be
published in the Company’s website at www.lotushorizonholdings.com
and despatched to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) in the manner as required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
12 August 2025 to Friday, 15 August 2025 (both days inclusive) during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company (the “Shares”) will
be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
unregistered holders of Shares shall ensure that all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 11
August 2025.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operation is subject to social, political, economic, and
market risks, which may affect the competition and profitability of
projects in facade works and building metal finishing works industry.
Furthermore, the projects undertaken by the Group are awarded on a
project-by-project basis through tendering; failure to obtain continuity
of the order book for new projects could adversely affect the Group's
financial performance. Revenue from a few of the Group's customers
accounted for a substantial portion of the Group's revenue; inability
to retain business relation with and/or secure sufficient new business
from them may materially affect the Group's operation and financial
performance.

RRBFEKRE
ARAWEERRBFAG ([RRBF K
2R AFN\ATHR(EHA)E
7 ARBRRBFASBERN AR RHL
www.lotushorizonholdings.com T} & + I 72 i
BRRIZBEBMARSMARLDR ([BRA])
Br WA ETRBDRENTAFTET
RARIER(TRR]) ©

TERERDBFEES

KRR —_E_AFNA+=-H(EH D)=
TE-RFN\ATHB(EHR)(BHEEEM
R HEEERERGBFER  BABTE
BARNEINRG (R D)ETBPER - AR
EERNERRBFASEREG LEE K&
uamﬂxfﬁ?—rﬁ/\fgﬁﬁﬁﬁf\_?_ﬂi/\ﬂﬂL*
R(EH—) TTFRE=+2 28 E RN B
}f'XffFLIWHF'%ﬁHxK RERRNENEERSD B
PERLORBEEZLAELAERARNGIUAE
BERBISERSRT U178 PHEER -

TERBE A RERSR
AEENCEERL® - BoA - EBERTSE
B AR EIMET IR RRESBHE I

TENBFNIARBME - ths - AEER
Z (AR BRIZAEB AR NIAR © WEER
BRGHARE  AKEPBRAXEXE

THZEE - REAREZATPHKEAEAE
BE AR Wt BERRNERTERBIER
R,/ REREIIS RN EE AT se A%
B E M BRRENBEETE

BHRERERERRR / —E_RFFR

23



24

Directors’ Report

EEGHRE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 172 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’s total issued share capital as at 31 March 2025 was
2,000,000,000 ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 per Share.

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 22 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

DEBENTURES

The Company did not issue any debenture during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 101
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

Please refer to Note 32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
details of the Company'’s distributable reserve as at 31 March 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHU Kwok Fun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. TSANG Chiu Wan (retired on 16 August 2024)

Mr. CHEN Shu An (appointed on 11 June 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. LEUNG Yin Fai

Mr. MA Tsz Chun

Ms. YUEN Wai Yee
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a contract for
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year each commencing
from the day next after the expiry of the then current term of the
appointment, unless terminated by notice in writing served by either
party on the other in accordance with the service contract.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment contract with the Company for a period of three years
and is subject to termination provisions therein.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, including those to be
re-elected at the AGM, has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the
Listing Rules. The Company considers the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the appointment contracts and employment
contracts, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN
SECURITIES

Interests and short positions of Directors and chief executive
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or (ii) to be entered into the register required to be kept
therein, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the model code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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EERTETBAERE QT REABE
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K8 EBAME AR B M X P s R B
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Number of
Shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest interested  shareholding
=Y 2]
EENE By sty EZROEE BRESL
Mr. Chu Kwok Fun Interest in controlled corporation (Notes 1&2) 1,500,000,000 75.0%
REIE A Sy A B (M s &2) (Long position)
(57%)
Notes: FI5E -
1. Based on the total number of 2,000,000,000 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2025. 1. ER-_Z-_AF=-ZA=Z+—HEBTKRHAH

2. Mr. Chu Kwok Fun holds 100% of the issued share capital of Platinum Lotus Holdings
Limited, which in turn holds 1,500,000,000 Shares, representing 75.0% of the issued
share capital of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Chu is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by Platinum Lotus Holdings Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and/or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) to be entered
into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the model code for securities transactions by Directors.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

Interests and short positions of the substantial shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
As at 31 March 2025, so far as it is known to the Directors, the following
entities (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
or were deemed to have interests in shares or underlying shares which
(i) were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or (ii) which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the
Listing Rules or, (iii) who will be, directly or indirectly, be interested in
10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings.
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Number of
Shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest interested  shareholding
P BE
Eups A8 51,/ EnitE BEROEAE ERESL
Platinum Lotus Holdings Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 1,500,000,000 75.0%
BE=lEA ABIEED) (Long position)
(452)
Ms. Dai Wing Yi Marjor Interest of spouse (Note 2) 1,500,000,000 75.0%

kRt i B s (fE2) (Long position)
(5 E)
Notes: Ff5E
1. Based on the total number of 2,000,000,000 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2025. 1. ERZZE-_AF=-A=ZF+—HEEHTHRHALAH

2. Ms. Dai Wing Yi Marjor is the spouse of Mr. Chu Kwok Fun and therefore is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares which Mr. Chu is deemed to be interested in by
virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors have not
been notified by any entity who had interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

During the Year, there were no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company as defined under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed under the “Related Party Transactions” in Note 25
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, there were no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance, to which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries, its parent company, or its parent company'’s
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
and indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2025 or any time during the
Year, nor was there any other transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in relation to the Group's business between the Company
or any of the Company'’s subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements and contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Group by a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries were made.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

The Company has maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance in respect of legal actions against them arising out
of corporate activities and such permitted indemnity provision for the
benefit of the Directors currently in force.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the FY2025, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's
largest supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 30.7% and 65.2% (2024: approximately 18.1% and
34.4%). Revenue attributable to the Group's largest customers and the
five largest customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 31.3%
and 86.3% (2024: approximately 51.7% and 94.8%) respectively of the
Group's total revenue for the Year.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholders who are interested in more than 5%
of the issued share capital of the Company had any interests in the
Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS

Employees

Our Group considers our employees as the key to sustainable business
growth and also recognises them as valuable assets. Further, in light
of the shortage of skilled labour in the local construction industry, it
is crucial to maintain a competitive remuneration package and fringe
benefits for our potential and existing employees. In this regard,
the Group provides comprehensive remuneration package which
includes salary, discretionary bonuses and other cash subsidies to
attract, motivate and retain appropriate and suitable employees to
serve the Group. In general, our Group determines employee salaries
based on each employee’s qualifications, experiences and position
held. Our Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of our employees, which forms the basis of our decisions
with respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions. Our Group
also provides on-the-job training and development opportunities to
enhance employees’ career development and learning.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS (Continued)

Customers

Our Group believes that we have maintained a close relationship with
our major customers. Besides, it is our priority to work with reputable
customers, which in turn can create more opportunities to undertake
sizeable projects. Working with these customers can allow us to secure
future business opportunities with them and bolster our job reference.

Besides that, our Group has no intention to limit ourselves to serve
our major customers and, with our presence in the industry, our Group
believes that we are able to extend our services to other customers.

As such, our Group is of the view that, despite the customer
concentration, our business model is sustainable.

Suppliers and Sub-Contractors

Our Group has developed stable and strong working relationships
with suppliers and sub-contractors to meet our Group’s customers’
needs in an effective and efficient manner. The Group works closely
with the suppliers and sub-contractors to make sure the tendering,
procurement and sub-contracting are conducted in an open, fair and
just manner. The Group’s requirements and standards are also well
communicated to them before the commencement of projects.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group's operations at work sites are subject to certain
environmental requirements pursuant to the laws of Hong Kong. The
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group
include, among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), and Waste Disposal (Charges for Disposal of
Construction Waste) Regulation.

In order to comply with the applicable environmental protection
laws, we had implemented measures to mitigate the environmental
impacts arising from air emissions, waste disposal, noise and resource
consumption. Apart from complying with the environmental protection
policies formulated and required by our customers, we have also
established our own environmental management policy to assure
proper management of environmental protection and compliance
of environmental laws and regulations by both our employees and
workers of the subcontractors on, among others, air pollution, noise
control and waste disposal. During the Year, we did not incur any
material costs on environmental compliance.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, as far as the Board and the management are aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has material impact on the
business and operation of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed minimum public float for its
shares as required under the Listing Rules throughout the Year and up
to the date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the Company
nor their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
is interested in a business apart from the Group's business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group's
business during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business by the Group are set out in Note 25 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, and none of which constitutes a
connected transaction as required to be disclosed as defined under
the Listing Rules.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Year, the Group did not have any significant investment
held, any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies.

B FIRBERERER

RAEEHRE  SEFTEREEEMAM - A&
EHEEEER I TETERERLERNIG
o N ARERE NS EELEATE

ERABERE
REAFASEN MR AFRABRESAHR
M RAFEEFLREEAFREY - ARQF
B EMARARENBRDSEARFRE -

BE HESIFEEALQT LHES

RAFEHE » ARRSREEMHEQRSE
BE  HEXBELARRREM LHES

ESERFRBPHER

RAFEHRE  EFSARTERBRREES
ERETHBEA(ERRE LHRADMENRER
SRR AR B R BR B F H EBE T
R (R ERBEBRIN) R A (E A o

B R 5
AEERAEERBBRETETOEB IR ZH
BN R A ISR M2 - BT X
SERLETRAPIENATRERERS -

EARE  EAWBERLEHREL
AIRBE QT

RAFEHERE  ARETEFHTRNENK
B R EABEE KRB AR R
e

D

BHRERERERRR / —E_RFFR

31



32

Directors’ Report

EEGHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 5 March 2020. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. The main purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate
employees to optimize their performance efficiency for the benefit
of the Company, to attract and retain best available personnel, to
provide additional incentive to employees (full time or part time),
directors, consultants, advisers of the Group and to promote success
of the business of the Group. Details of the Share Option Scheme are
disclosed in Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

No share options were granted, cancelled, exercised or lapsed under
the Share Option Scheme since its adoption date and up to the date of
this report.

Share options may be exercised at any time during a period as the
Directors may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the
date of grant. Despite the terms of the Share Option Scheme, any
grant of share options by the Company will comply with the Listing
Rules from time to time.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme mandate
at the beginning and the end of the Year was 200,000,000.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 200,000,000,
representing 10% of the entire issued share capital of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to the Share Option
Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were entered into for the Year.

BANK BORROWINGS
Bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2025 were Nil (2024: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company or the Companies Laws of
the Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Share on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set out in Note 23 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Directors’ Report

EESHRE

REMUNERATIONS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remunerations of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in the Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Company with
reference to their relevant qualifications, experience, competence
and the prevailing market conditions. None of the Directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group's
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as incentive to
eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.

Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set out in Note 23 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of
corporate practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the section headed "Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 35 to 50 of this annual report.

DISCLOSURES UNDER RULES 13.20 TO 13.22 OF
THE LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no circumstances which would
give rise to a disclosure obligation under Rule 13.20 to 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors: Mr. Ma Tsz Chun, Ms. Leung Yin Fai and Ms. Yuen Wai
Yee. Mr. Ma Tsz Chun currently serves as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other things,
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, review the financial
statements and provide advice in respect of financial reporting,
oversee the financial reporting process, internal control, risk
management systems and audit process, and perform other duties and
responsibilities assigned by the Board.

The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the
Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee on 27 June 2025.
The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the Year comply with
applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has acted as the auditor of the Group for
the Year. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who shall retire in the forthcoming AGM
and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for
their re-appointment as auditor for the coming year will be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board

Chu Kwok Fun
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed in achieving a high level of corporate
governance standard. The Board believes that good corporate
governance standards are essential in providing a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders, enhance its
corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and relevant code provisions as set out under the CG Code,
as amended from time to time, contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules. To the best of the knowledge of the Board, the Company has
complied with the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG Code
throughout the Year except where otherwise stated. The Board will
continue to review and enhance the Company's corporate governance
policies to ensure compliance with statutory and professional standards
and align with the latest developments.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct of the Company
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries of the Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the requirements of the Model Code throughout
the Year.

CORPORATION CULTURE

The Board is responsible for establishing the Company’s desired
culture (“Corporate Culture”) by defining the purpose, values and
strategy of the Company and leading the management to build
up effective communication channel and incentive scheme for the
Corporate Culture.

The Company places strong emphasis on work quality and safety
while simultaneously devotes attention to meeting timelines, technical
specifications, architectural features, and aesthetic requirements of
projects undertaken by us. The key competitive strengths, which are
also the core values, of the Company include: (i) a good reputation
and a proven track record in facade works and building metal finishing
works in Hong Kong; (ii) delivering quality works in facade works
and building metal finishing works projects; (iii) strong capability
to implement the architectural designs of our customers; (iv) solid
business relationships with our major customers, suppliers, and
subcontractors; and (v) an experienced and dedicated management
team.
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CORPORATION CULTURE (Continued)

The Board believes that, through maintaining the abovementioned
competitive strengths, the Company would be able to achieve targeted
revenue growth and reasonable profit margins (which are the success
measurements of the Company). Detailed discussions and analyses
of the Company's performance are included in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. For effective communication of the Corporate Culture,
the Company'’s purpose, values and strategy, as well as its core values,
are clearly stated in its code of conduct which are distributed to all staff
of the Company.

As the Corporate Culture emphasizes on (i) professional services and
high quality of works, (i) honesty and (iii) safety, the Board defines
key performance indicators ("KPIs") for assessing and monitoring the
Corporate Culture as staff training hours, whistleblowing data, accident
rates of construction sites and non-compliance records. The records
and data of the KPIs shall be reviewed and discussed by a working
group, which composes of members of the Company’s management
and employees from various departments and is leaded by one of the
Directors, in its regular meetings. Any misalignments with the Company
Culture noted would be discussed by the members of the working
group and reported to the Board, together with recommendations for
improvement.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of five Directors
including Mr. Chu Kwok Fun (Chairman) and Mr. Chen Shu An as the
executive Directors and Ms. Leung Yin Fai, Mr. Ma Tsz Chun and Ms.
Yuen Wai Yee as the independent non-executive Directors.

There is a balance of skills and experience for the Board, which is
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
Biographical details are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
There are no family or other material relationships among members of
the Board.

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as operation and financial performance of the Group.
The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
assists the Chairman in drawing the agenda of each meeting and each
Director may request inclusion of matters in the agenda. All Directors
have access to the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring
that Board procedures are complied with and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board should
meet regularly and regular board meetings should be held at least
four times per year. Additional meetings would be arranged if and
when required. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communications.

The attendance record of each Director at the board meeting and
board committee meetings held throughout the Year is set out in the
table below:

BEg20m)

BEEEREAR(E)

BIEOEE AT TR ECS1E ES
eRTHANES  BASETHELRTN
REEQRE o NWERARHRTEIGE -
EENHAREAETAATASHE S -

BRESHERNAFERTNESEERRE
ELXECERNREHN TR

Attendance/Number of meetings

HESE KERY
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee meeting
Ezgex ERZES FMZzES REZEE BRAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chu Kwok Fun KEELE 5/5 - - 1/1 11
Mr. Tsang Chiu Wan LG 2/2 - n - 17
(retired on 16 August 2024) (R—ZE-mE
NATRERE)
Mr. Chen Shu An (Note) Btz o i (B at) 4/4 - 1 - 11
(appointed on 11 June 2024) (R=Z=-mF
NAT—BHEZT)
Independent Non-executive BV FH{TES
Directors
Ms. Leung Yin Fai ZEELL 5/5 33 1/1 1/1 11
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun SEEEE 5/5 33 1/1 1/1 11
Ms. Yuen Wai Yee REERT 5/5 313 11 - 11

Note: Mr. Chen Shu An was appointed as an executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 11 June 2024. Mr. Chen did not attend any board
meetings, board committee meetings or general meetings which were held prior to
his appointment.

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has three independent
non-executive Directors and all of the independent non-executive
Directors have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The three independent non-executive Directors represent not less
than half of the Board, the proportion of which is higher than what is
required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules whereby independent non-
executive directors of a listed issuer must represent at least one third
of the board. The Board believes there is sufficient independence
element in the Board to safeguard the interest of Shareholders.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment contract with the Company for a period of three years
and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation and re-election of Directors as set out in
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the
" Articles”).

The Board takes the responsibility collectively to oversee all major
matters of the Company, including the formulation and approval of all
policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives. The
Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company. To oversee particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs, the
Board has established three board committees, including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”).

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement
on corporate actions and operations, and are invited to serve on the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee.

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025

BEg20m)

BEEEREAR(E)
CEBVERTESETOR LN ETEN
B AR LBIER E R RIS 3 10A KT
MAE BRE  FRTANBYIERTE
HELEEREL =N —HEBAY - 258
1S BESHE T HHE ST M LR FE R 5

N9
S

B

BEIFRITESFCHARRRR] BH=FK
REEHK  WAXHREGEXRARBEEE
RAMEAR(TARDFEAHEESEHERE
KB E B FSCATRIR ©

EE AR HREBEARANMAEASE
BRHEIMUEMBERREE - BERE K
Bt kAR EREERARERSRITBAE
MR - EFARAR AN EIELTEIR
T REBARREHNFESIH  EFEC
KRIZEEZZEE  BREZZES(EFXK
Z8g]) REEZBEe2((REBEET]) MFM
ZEe((FMEEE ) (nRESE8E)) -

PREF(BEBLMMTER)HRESES
KREZHEEXGER - MBREERBS 1Kt
M E EE AW E SR HEEH B -

BT ST B B RRAD B AT 1
EERE  CTEEERES - HOETD
BB RB AN - BB RS
FRUNBHEAS RASEARFHES
M -



Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The Board has delegated to the management, consisting of executive
Directors along with other senior executives, the responsibilities
for implementing the strategy and direction adopted by the Board
from time to time and conducting the day-to-day management and
operations of the Group.

The Board has delegated to the Board Committees the responsibilities
as set out in their respective terms of references. Further details of
the Board Committees are set out in the sections headed “Audit
Committee”, “Nomination Committee” and “Remuneration
Committee” below.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chu Kwok Fun (“Mr. Chu") is currently the chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company. Pursuant to code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be segregated and should not be performed
by the same individual. Taking into account Mr. Chu has held the key
leadership position of the Group and has been deeply involved in
the overall management, strategic planning and development of the
business operation since its establishment, the Board considered that
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer being performed by
Mr. Chu enables more effective and efficient overall business planning,
decision making and implementation thereof by the Group.

Mr. Chu also takes the lead to ensure that the Board works effectively
and acts in the best interest of the Company by encouraging the
Directors to make active contribution in the Board’s affairs and
promoting a culture of openness and debate.

The Board believes that it is in the best interests of the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole to have Mr. Chu taking up both roles. The
Board is of the view that the balance of power and authority under
the present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable the Company to make and implement decisions promptly and
effectively.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. A summary of the mechanisms is
set out below:

()  The Nomination Committee is established with clear terms of
reference to identify suitable candidates, including independent
non-executive Directors, for appointment as Directors.

(i) A nomination policy is in place with details of the process and
criteria of identifying, selecting, recommending, cultivating and
integrating new directorship. Details of the nomination policy are
set out in the section headed “Nomination Policy”.

(i)  Each independent non-executive director of the Company
is required to confirm in writing to the Company his/her
independence upon his/her appointment as a director of the
Company with reference to such criteria as stipulated in the
Company'’s nomination policy as well as the Listing Rules.

(iv) Each independent non-executive director of the Company is
required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there
is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may affect
his/her independence.

(vy  The Nomination Committee will assess annually the
independence of all independent non-executive Directors and to
affirm if each of them still satisfies the criteria of independence as
set out in the Listing Rules and is free from any relationships and
circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect,
their independent judgement.

(vi) Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are encouraged to seek further information from the senior
management on the matters to be discussed at Board meetings
and, where necessary, independent professional advice from
external professional advisers at the Company’s expense.

The Board has reviewed the above mechanisms and considered that
they are effective in ensuring that independent views and input are
provided to the Board. During the reporting period and up to the date
of this report, none of the independent non-executive Directors at the
time and currently sitting on the Board has served on the Board for
more than nine years. The Company has received written confirmation
from each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets forth the objective and approach to
achieve diversity on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness
of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy provides that the Company
should endeavour to ensure that the board members have the
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
that are required to support the execution of our business strategy.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length

of service.

When identifying potential candidates to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board will, among others, (i) consider the
current level of representation of women on the Board and senior
management when making recommendations for nominees as well as
succession planning to the Board of Directors and senior management;
(ii) consider the criteria that promotes diversity by references to
the code of practices on employment published by the Equal
Opportunities Commission from time to time; and (iii) communicate the
Board Diversity Policy to the Nomination Committee and encourage a
cooperative approach to ensure diversity on the Board.

As at 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises three male Directors (representing 60% of the Board) and
two female Directors (representing 40% of the Board). The Company
targets to avoid a single gender Board and will timely review the
gender diversity of the Board in accordance with the business
development of the Group.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diverse
perspectives which is appropriate for the business growth and
operations of the Group. The Company is also committed to ensuring
that recruitment and selection practices at all levels are appropriately
structured so that a diverse range of candidates are considered. As at
31 March 2025, the overall workforce (including senior management)
of the Group comprised 39 (76.5%) male and 12 (23.5%) female
employees. Further details on the gender ratio of the Group together
with other relevant data are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “"Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company, aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and to ensure the Board's continuity
and appropriate leadership. The Nomination Committee shall
identify candidates who are qualified/suitable to become a member
of the Board and to make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of candidates nominated for directorships. The selection
of candidates will be based on a range of selection criteria as set out
in the Nomination Policy, including but not limited to, character and
integrity, qualification, potential contributions the candidate can bring
to the Board in terms of qualifications, skill, experience, independence
and gender diversity, the candidate’s willingness and ability to devote
adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board.

For the appointment of directors, the Nomination Committee will first
identify individual(s) suitably qualified to become board members
and assesses the independence of the proposed independent non-
executive director(s). Then, the Nomination Committee will make
recommendation to the Board for the Board to consider, having regard
to the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy. The Board will
confirm the appointment of the suitable candidate or recommend the
candidate to stand for election at a general meeting of the Company.
The candidate(s) who is/are appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board will be subject to re-election
by Shareholders at the general meeting after initial appointment in
accordance with the Articles.

For the re-appointment of directors, the Nomination Committee
will also consider the retiring directors based on the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy, and assess the independence
of independent non-executive Director(s) before the Nomination
Committee makes recommendation to the Board to consider. After
the Board considers each retiring director, the Board will recommend
the suitable retiring director(s) to stand for re-election at the annual
general meeting in accordance with the Articles. The Shareholders will
approve the re-election of directors at the annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size,
composition (including skills, knowledge, experience and length
of service) of the Board on a regular basis at least annually and
diversity of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to the
requirements for the business of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has set up a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
with an aim to strike a balance between maintaining sufficient capital
to develop and operate the business of the Group and rewarding the
Shareholders. According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether
to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the
Board shall take into account the results of operation, cash flows,
financial condition, future business prospect, and other factors as the
Board may deem appropriate at such time.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is also
subject to any constitutional documents of the Company and the
Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands, any applicable laws, rules
and regulations and the Articles. The declaration and payment of
future dividend under the Dividend Policy are subject to the Board's
determination that the same would be in the best interests of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole. The Board will review the
Dividend Policy from time to time and may exercise at its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Dividend
Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development
such as a director training lesson organised by qualified professionals
during the Year and up to the date of this report to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the
Board.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Records of the training received by the respective Directors are kept by
the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received during the
Year and up to the date of this report is summarised below:

EENREEEEZR @)

BEEERINEIIREIRFNART]

REERAFEHRRLBEARRE AEEH
FEIME R Fesr st an T

Attending webinar(s)/seminar(s)/
forum(s)/programme(s)/
conference(s) relevant to the business
or Directors’ duties

FRHEREKREERSEREN
Name of Director BEENSR WEWAE WS WwiE BE 28
Mr. CHU Kwok Fun KEESLE v
Mr. TSANG Chiu Wan BRGEE(RZZ ZUF v
(retired on 16 August 2024) NA+/<BREME)
Mr. CHEN Shu An (appointed on PRI (R EZUF v
11 June 2024) NAT—HEERT)
Ms. LEUNG Yin Fai RHEIBL L v
Mr. MA Tsz Chun BELE v
Ms. YUEN Wai Yee REFELL v

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are,
among other things, to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, review
the financial statements and provide advice in respect of financial
reporting, oversee the financial reporting process, internal control, risk
management systems and audit process, and perform other duties and
responsibilities assigned by the Board. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are available at the Company’s website and on the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Tsz Chun, Ms. Leung Yin Fai, and Ms. Yuen
Wai Yee. Mr. Ma Tsz Chun currently serves as the chairman of the Audit

Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings and
performed the following works:

(@)  reviewed the Group's interim and annual financial statements;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

(b)  reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed their
potential impacts on the Group's financial statements;

(c) reviewed the Group's risk management and internal control
system and related matters; and

(d)  considered and made recommendations on the re-appointment
of the external auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.

The Company's annual results for the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to review and approve the management'’s remuneration
proposals, make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of our Directors and senior management and ensure none of

Directors determines his/her own remuneration.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
at the Company's website and on the website of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

The Remuneration Committee comprises the three existing
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung Yin Fai, Mr.
Ma Tsz Chun and Ms. Yuen Wai Yee, and an executive Director, Mr.
Chen Shu An (appointed on 11 June 2024). Ms. Leung Yin Fai currently
serves as the chairlady of the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to the responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that no individual will be involved in
determining his/her own remuneration.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has held one meeting
for reviewing the remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors under the model described
in code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code and other related matters.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the senior management (other than Directors) by
bands for the Year are as follows:

EEZEEW)

FMESR(E)
BIEPEERTR 2 SFANEXZEE.5E - &4k
EREEB(EERINREAEEERFHEES D
BT -

Number of

employee(s)

BEAE

Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 381,000,000/ 7T 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001# 7T 1,500,000/ 7T 4

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5 highest
paid employees are set out in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors, and select or
make recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available at
the Company’s website and on the website of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Nomination Committee comprises two existing independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ma Tsz Chun and Ms. Leung Yin
Fai, and an executive Director, Mr. Chu Kwok Fun. Mr. Chu Kwok Fun
currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has held one meeting
for reviewing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, considering the qualifications of the retiring directors
standing for election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company, reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination
Policy.

The Nomination Committee considered that the independent non-

executive Directors are independent and the aforesaid policies have
been maintained up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the
Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this corporate governance report.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year in
accordance with statutory requirements, the Listing Rules and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors are not aware of any
material uncertainty that may cause significant doubt upon the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statements of the independent auditor of the Group about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages
92 to 98 of this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has been appointed as the external auditor
of the Company. For the FY2025, the remunerations paid or payable to
the external auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in respect of its audit
services are approximately HK$880,000. There was no remuneration for
non-audit services.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has the responsibility to maintain effective internal control
systems and risk management in order to safeguard the Group's assets
and investments and the Shareholders’ interest and conduct a review
on an ongoing basis annually. The Board acknowledges that such
internal control systems and risk management are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Board conducted review of the
effectiveness of the internal control systems and risk managements
of the Company in respect of the Group's financial, operational,
compliance controls, risk management functions and the significant
ESG risk through the effort of the Audit Committee.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is currently
of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal audit
function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the Group's business. It was decided that the Board would be
responsible for internal control and risk management of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed for
safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication, and
ensuring compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The
situation will be reviewed annually.

During the Year, the Group engaged an external consultant (the
"Consultant”) to review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system, who worked closely with the Group to identify
risk components and risk owners in different aspects through interviews
with and workshops provided to the Group’s management. Also, the
Consultant assisted the Group to evaluate the adequacy of the existing
mitigation plans. Last but not least, findings and recommendations
resulting from the review were reported to and discussed with the
Audit Committee and the Board, and the Consultant concluded that
no significant area of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance control and risk management of the Group has been
identified.

The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function
and the Board had reached the conclusion that the Group’s internal
control systems and risk managements were in place and effective.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for, among others, ensuring
that Board policies and procedures are followed. All Directors have
access to the Company Secretary’s advice and services. The Company
Secretary undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training and complied with all the required qualifications, experience
and training requirements of the Listing Rules for the Year.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Group has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information
with the aim to ensure the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality
requirement and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside
information.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders and potential investors is essential for enhancing investor
relations and understanding of the Group's business, performance and
strategies. The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication
policy (the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) with the objective
of ensuring that Shareholders and potential investors are provided
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company (including the financial performance,
strategic goals and plans, material development, governance and
risk profile). The Company also recognises the importance of timely
disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders and potential

investors to make the informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains
the website of www.lotushorizonholdings.com; where up-to-date
information on the Company's business operations and developments,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access. Latest information of the
Group including annual and interim reports, announcements and
other corporate communications which will be sent to Shareholders
and/or published are updated on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website in a timely fashion.

The Company also communicates with the Shareholders mainly by
holding of annual general meetings which provide opportunities for
the Shareholders to communicate with the Board.

Shareholders and potential investors are welcome to visit the
Company’s website where contact details are available on the
Company's website for enquiries. The chairman of the 2024 AGM and
the chairman/members of the Board Committees and the external
auditor were available at the 2024 AGM to answer questions from
the shareholders. The procedures for conducting a poll have been
explained during the meeting.

The forthcoming AGM will be held on Friday, 15 August 2025. The
notice of the AGM, setting out details of each proposed resolutions
and other relevant information, will be sent to Shareholders at least 21
days before the AGM.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders’” Communication Policy during the Year. Having
considered the multiple channels of communication mentioned above,
the Company is satisfied that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
was implemented properly and remains effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
shall be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing
to the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Cayman Islands Company
Law for Shareholders to move new resolution at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to the “Procedures for Shareholders
to Propose a Person for Election as a Director” of the Company which is
posted on the Company’s website.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests to the Board
through the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
21/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
(email: info@lotushorizonholdings.com).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s constitutional documents
throughout the Year. The Articles is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD STATEMENT

Dear Stakeholders:

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the "Director(s)"),
| hereby present to you the Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG”") Report (the "ESG Report”) for the year ended 31 March 2025,
providing an overview of the Group's management on significant ESG
issues that have impacts on the operation.

As the highest governance body, the Board is committed to
maintaining a high level of corporate governance and has the
responsibility to oversee ESG issues which are material to the Group.
The Group has established an ESG Working Group since 2020
which comprises members from different departments. The ESG
Working Group coordinates the implementation of related policies
and measures, and continuously optimise the Group’s sustainable
development strategies and performance across departments. It also
works with external independent consultant to identify, monitor and
review ESG-related risk and reports the progress to the Board.

Stakeholder engagement is an indispensable part of sustainable
strategies. It helps us respond to existing and potential risks and
opportunities in the market, and it is also the basis for strategy
formulation and decision making. In addition to daily communication
with stakeholders, we conducted a materiality assessment and invited
major stakeholders to prioritise the identified issues in the form of a
survey to determine the most concerning ESG issues, thereby adjusting
resource allocation and formulating more appropriate policies and
measures to respond to the needs and expectations of stakeholders
and make this ESG Report more targeted.

The operational activities of the Group inevitably cause direct or
indirect environmental impacts and climate change. We advocate
waste reduction and improving the efficiency of resource use in our
business operations, based on the interests of stakeholders. The
Group has set clear short-term and long-term sustainable development
vision and goals to progressively achieve ongoing emission reduction
according to governmental requirements. In order to promote the
sustainable development of the Group, we continue to strengthen
our safety management system to ensure the safety and health of
our employees at work. We recognise the importance of managing
ESG impacts of the supply chain, protect the interests of the local
communities in which we operate, and ensure that all operating units
comply with local laws and regulations.

Looking ahead, the Group will adhere to the pursuit of a better society,
commit itself to the common prosperity of enterprises, society and
the environment, create a win-win situation for all stakeholders, and
continue to be a force for social stability and upward improvement.

Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited
Chu Kwok Fun
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

27 June 2025
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ABOUT THIS ESG REPORT

Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries

noou

(collectively referred to as the “Group”, “we"” or "us”) are delighted
to publish the sixth ESG Report to summarise the Group's policies,
measures and performance on the key ESG issues. This ESG Report

was reviewed and approved by the Board on 27 June 2025.

Reporting Period

This ESG Report covers the Group's policies and performance
regarding the environmental and social aspects from 1 April 2024 to 31
March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”, “FY2025").

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The information of this ESG Report covers the core and material
business of the Group, namely provision of design, supply, and
installation services for facade works and building metal finishing
works projects in Hong Kong, and office operation in Mainland China
("Mainland”). The office operation in Mainland is newly included in the
Report. The disclosure of environmental key performance indicators
(the “KPI(s)”) mainly covers the service in Hong Kong, which are
operated by our wholly-owned subsidiary, ICGL Technical Works (HK)
Limited (“ICGL (Hong Kong)"), and accounted for all of the Group's
revenue during the Reporting Period. Social KPls, in addition, also
cover the office operation in the Mainland. If the scope and boundaries
of the specific contents vary, they are noted in the relevant sections of
this Report.

Reporting Basis and Principle

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules. The Company has

|u

complied with all “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG
Reporting Guide and followed the following reporting principles in the
preparation of this ESG Report: materiality, quantitative, balance and

consistency.

J Materiality
The Group determines ESG issues that are significantly important
by stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment. Details
are explained in the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment” of this ESG Report.
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o Quantitative
Information is presented with quantitative measure, whenever
feasible, including information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions used and provision of comparative data.

o Balance
This ESG Report identifies the achievements and challenges
faced by the Group.

o Consistency
This ESG Report is the sixth ESG Report of the Group. This
ESG Report will use consistent methodologies for meaningful
comparisons in the following years unless improvements in

methodologies are identified.

The information contained herein is sourced from internal documents
and statistics of the Group, as well as the combined control,
management and operations information provided by the subsidiaries
in accordance with the Group's internal management systems. In the
event of contradiction or inconsistency between the Chinese version
and the English version, the English version shall prevail.

Feedbacks

The Group respects your view on this ESG Report. Should you have
any opinions or suggestions, you are welcome to send to us via email
to the following address: info@icgltw.com.
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board supports the Group’s commitment to fulfil its environmental
and social responsibility and has overall responsibility for the Group's
ESG strategy and reporting. The Board oversees the ESG strategies,
policies, objectives and targets. The Board has delegated the day-to-
day responsibility of the implementation to the senior management
and department heads. Senior management advises and supports
the Board on ESG matters, strategies, policies, manage and monitor
ESG performance and targets. Departments implement ESG policies
and related initiatives. The Board regularly reviews the Group's ESG
performance, examines and approves the Group's annual ESG report.

The Group, on the other hand, has noticed that there is a growth of
public awareness on ESG-related issues in recent years, therefore an
ESG Working Group has been established since 2020 to serve as a
bridge between the Group and its stakeholders to enhance effective
communication on ESG-related matters. The ESG Working Group
currently composes of members of the management and employees
from various departments, including the finance, human resources,
administration, procurement and project management departments.
The ESG Working Group is scheduled to hold ESG meetings to report
to the Board of Directors and senior management on progress against
relevant KPls and targets. The ESG Working Group has conducted 6
face-to-face ESG meetings and 6 progress update meetings during the
Reporting Period.

Apart from the role of acting as the communication channel between
the Group and its stakeholders on ESG-related issues, the ESG
Working Group is also assigned to bear the following responsibilities:

o Follows and reports to the Board and the top management on
the ESG strategies and proposes ESG initiatives for achieving the
sustainability objectives;

o Engages and communicates with stakeholders in performing
materiality assessment and formulating ESG strategies and
initiatives;

o Coordinates with staffs for delivery of the ESG initiatives;

° Determines the Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs"”) for
measurement of performance on aspects under ESG
requirements; and

o Monitors activities that affects the performance on aspects under

ESG requirements for on-going development and improvement.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands the concerns of its stakeholders through
day-to-day communications. Stakeholders’ opinions are the solid
foundation for the Group's sustainable development and success. They
help the Group develop a business strategy that meets the needs and
expectations of stakeholders, enhance the ability to identify risk and
strengthen important relationships. The Group communicates with
its stakeholders about their needs and expectations through various
channels, as shown below:

&SR
AEEEEEHERTRENEOMIEE -
BHENERDAEE T FERRERKDHE
HHRE - HEHARENEHARBERR
TS O SRS SRS ¢+ K38 IR B BE 1 B3
BEWE - AREEB TEARNEERER
BHEBBRENERRSL -

Stakeholders Needs and Expectations of Communication Channel
Stakeholders
& BHENFERRBE BBERE
Government and regulatory ° Compliance with laws and o Annual reports, interim reports, ESG
agencies regulations reports and other public information
BURT & B E 8 BPER LR Fil - PHIWmE  RE - HERER
HENEMAFER
Shareholders and investors o Return on investments o Annual general meetings and other
IRERIEEE HAE R general meetings of shareholders
e Corporate governance REBEFRE REMBRREAER
TEER e Company website
. Business ethics NIEER
[ LR o Press releases/announcements
il PN
. Annual reports, interim reports, ESG
reports and other public information
Fil - PHIWRE  RE - HERER
W REAMRFEER
Employees ° Employee’s remuneration and o Training
== benefits ==kl
8 T 3B K& x| e Meetings
e External and internal training and =%
development opportunities o Performance evaluation
SNER RN BDIE A R RS BRI
° Health and safety in the workplace e Surveys
TESAERRLZ R BR#AE
o Staff engagements and voluntary
activities
BI2HELETE
o Internal portal
B A8
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Stakeholders Needs and Expectations of Communication Channel
Stakeholders

FE FOENTRRHE BERE

Customers o Product and service quality o Email, phone, conferences

®E assurance BH  EELGHR

P i 2 R 75 B R E

Suppliers/subcontractors/
business partners

fepER, D Em, LB

Fair and open procurement
RF AR
Win-win cooperation

EmAatlF

Email

B

Phone

=

En
Conference
PN

H AR

Company visits
EHIREG A A
Discussion groups
BRI
Questionnaires

A%

Community and non-

governmental organisations

(NGOs)
YN

Involvement in communities

BALER

Sponsorships and donations
Bo) B

ESG reports

RIE - HERERRE
Community services

it [ AR A%
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In preparing this ESG Report, we engaged with different stakeholder

groups as part of the materiality assessment process to identify and

prioritise ESG issues to be covered in this ESG Report that have a

significant impact on the Group and stakeholders. The materiality

EEMME

RREARE L& REARER -
{2 — 35
wE

EREE
R METERA BT
SRR B REARERE

UAKBMBNEEREAZENRR  HE

assessment process is as follows: REGHEBAUWEEBRKL EEZNHTHEEN
T

1. We compiled a list of ESG issues and grouped them into four 1. HFIHEBRE e kEREASEL
categories: Environment, Employment and Labour Practices, BlopmEE - RE - EBREREBIER -
Operating Practices and the Community. EEE RAtE -

2. An online survey was conducted to rate the importance of each 2.  HITREERFADE  #HHFHELRAEE
issue from the perspective of stakeholder groups and the Group, fJ ﬁlf‘éﬁm;ﬁ%ﬂﬁix MHEITR D
using a scale of 1 to 5. A materiality matrix was developed based HANEERIESD - REBEFAENFTHE
on the scores of the survey, the threshold for materiality (i.e. the DMER - REEZEMHRERND
mean of the score) was set and a list of ESG issues was prioritised. HWFEHE)  WERE - L2 RER:

BEEETEX -

3. Management reviewed the materiality matrix and the threshold 3. EHEERFTEZHEELREEZMERHE -
for materiality. ESG issues, with a score higher than the mean RF/HPEREIEBENAENS B9 =
from the perspective of stakeholders and the Group, were REHENERRE H8RELZEEW
prioritised as the most important ESG issues for the Group to ERHBEENRE  HBRELEA -
address and report on. REEGETEE LULER -

Based on the materiality matrix, we believe the most pertinent ESG ~ EREEH45M - BMRAREBENRE 1

issues include the following: FRERFABEATRIE
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Use of Raw
Waste Msterials_ and Er};viron_ental Employment Diversityland
Management ackaglng egulations Practices sepue
9 M I @ liance ortunities
EYEE MRS S PN EmED ey o
J?M*éﬁ%ﬁ@%:ﬁﬂ REDERER bR TFE#S
\_ J \_ J J J
4 N\ [ N\ [ N\ N\ )
Responsible
Anti- Staff Occupational Staff Development Supply Chain Customers' Privacy
discrimination Health and Safety and Training Management and Conﬂdennahty
[ R Elﬂﬁ%ﬁ;@&ﬁ% 8 TR &IEI E?%:if?;\ e B RLERRE
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Anti-corruption
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Materiality Matrix
BEEMERE

5
14
é (5 26
o
|_|9J @24% 25
o) . JPEICNILPS
D & 8 15
< l'iﬁl“ 13 21
< o @
L& 12
z 3 é 17
o= 20 @ c)
=i 4
Qi @Zg 7
% 18
o 3 ® 22
T 28
'_
g o
(&1 3
@9 19
i
6
5 16
2 3 4 5
THE IMPACT ON THE GROUP
HAREENTE
1 Air Emissions 11 Employment Practices 20 Customers’ Privacy and
RABHE R IR1EHI Confidentiality
2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions 12 Diversity and Equal Opportunities B PR KR
oz RS EE Zrlb R FEgE 21 Customer Satisfaction
3 Effluent Management 13 Anti-discrimination BEEMEBE
TIIKETR RUZAR 22 Intellectual Property
4  Waste Management 14 Staff Occupational Health and FBERE
FEEYIE IR Safety 23 Safety of Services and Products
5 Energy Efficiency BTIBERERZSE RIS REmMmZE
BEIR RN 15 Staff Development and Training 24 Quality of Services and Products
6 Water Efficiency B T 3E &IEI R REMES
KR 16 Prohibition of Child Labour and 25 Business Ethics
7 Use of Raw Materials and Forced Labour [HE R
Packaging Materials BT REFIZBT 26 Anti-corruption Training for
RAE R BI85 B 17 Responsible Supply Chain Management and Employees
8 Environmental Regulations Management EREREENRETE
Compliance BREENHEREEE 27 Contributions to the Society
BIEERAH 18 Environmental Friendliness on Hirer R
9 Land Use, Pollution and Products or Service Purchased 28 Communication and Connection
Restoration Frig B E M RIS IRIBER TR with Local Community
THFIA T RMIRE 19 Compliance with Regulations on Bl b it B A R AR

10 Climate Change
TR

Marketing, Products and Service
Labelling
B  EmRRBEIEER
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SUBJECT AREA A: ENVIRONMENTAL

Policies

Our Environmental Policy demonstrates our commitment to deliver
our services with no significant and adverse impact on the environment
and to ensure that our operations are in compliance with the relevant
environmental requirements pursuant to the laws and regulations of
Hong Kong. It sets out the management approaches on air emissions,
wastes management, noise control and resources utilisation.

In addition, the Group advocates energy saving and carbon reduction,
and is committed to achieving sustainable operations. To this end,
we have set clear emission reduction and energy efficiency targets,
which would be mentioned in the following sections. All targets set on
environmental KPIs will be reviewed and updated in due time by the
ESG Working Group and the Board.

Compliance Information

Our projects are subject to certain environmental requirements
pursuant to the laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including but not
limited to Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). Any non-compliance with these laws and regulations
may impose impacts on our business operations and financial
performance. The Group continues to improve our environmental
management process. During the Reporting Period, to the best of our
Directors” knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant non-
compliance issues in this regard.

A1. Emissions

Air Emissions

During the Reporting Period, additional vehicles were added for
use by the Group. As heavy construction machineries, such as
tower cranes, were provided by the main contractors, the Group
was not able to obtain relevant fuel consumption data for the air
emissions calculation and the establishment of relevant targets.
We do not consume fossil fuel for our other equipment for site
installation works. In addition, the level of dust generated during
the installation process is insignificant and is not measurable
independently from other sources of air pollution at the
construction sites. Nonetheless, we are committed to reducing
air pollution by requiring our subcontractors to use electrical-
powered machines, such as scissor lift, cherry picker, boom lift,
and air compressor, during on-site installation so as to reduce
the level of air pollutant emission. We are also committed to
maintaining records of complaints about air pollution. During the
Reporting Period, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the
Group was not aware of any complaints in this regard.
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The major source of air pollutants of the Group is nitrogen
oxides, sulphur oxides and particulate matters from the
consumption of petrol consumed by vehicles.

Air Emissions' for the year ended 31 March

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERERS

AREBEZRSAMN T BIRSEMIE
RAREENAR/LLY ALY R
FERLY) o

BE=A=1—HIFEHREHL

Unit 2025 2024
By —®R-HF - Sl It S
Nitrogen Oxide (NO)) kilograms 1.40 0.00
pE=Klg7) NIy
Sulphur Dioxide (SO ) kilograms 0.01 0.00
ey NI
Particle Matter (PM) kilograms 0.10 0.00
EEVaRY) NIy

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions

In response to the community’s gradual concern on greenhouse
gas ("GHG") emissions, climate changes and other related
issues, the Group has collected information to calculate the GHG
emissions generated from our operations.

During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emissions were 32.18
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tonnes CO_-e) resulting
in GHG emissions intensities of 0.0034 tonnes CO,-e per sq. ft
and 0.64 tonnes CO,-e per employee, respectively. The GHG
emissions were incurred from the petrol consumption of vehicles,
electricity consumption of the electric vehicle and our offices.
Both the total GHG emissions and GHG emissions intensity
increased in the Reporting Period comparing to that of last
reporting period. We aim to reduce emissions by around 10% by
2027, compared with the 2020 baseline, and ensure the Group's
GHG emissions target will comply with the local requirements on
or before 2030.

The data covers emissions from petrol consumption of the Group's vehicles.
The calculation of air emissions is made reference to “How to prepare an
ESG Report? Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPls”
published by the Stock Exchange.
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GHG Emissions? for the year ended 31 March BE=A=1—HILFEHNBREREH

Hz

Unit 2025 2024
Efy —E-RF —FomE
Scope 13 tonnes CO,-e 2.65 0.00
#E—3 W —SE(CIREE
Scope 2* tonnes CO,-e 29.53 31.68
#oE— MR EE
Total GHG emissions tonnes CO,-e 32.18 31.68
BERBEINEE W —REIEE
GHG emissions intensity tonnes CO,-e/sq. ft° 0.0034 0.0033
BERBERETE B HRWE AL E 25
GHG emissions intensity tonnes CO,-e/employee® 0.64 0.55

IRERBYNEE

BEREEM_AREES

The Group will continue to record and disclose its GHG emissions

annually. The Group will continue to refine the data collection

system and develop reduction strategy if appropriate, based on

the projection of data in the coming years.

The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions is made reference to the
Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in
Hong Kong published by the Environmental Protection Department, and the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department, the 2024 sustainability report
published by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.

Scope 1 refers to direct emission from the business operations owned or
controlled by the Group, such as emissions from petrol usage of the Group's
motor vehicles.

Scope 2 refers to “indirect energy” emissions from the internal purchased
electricity consumption by the Group.

The total area of ICGL (Hong Kong) offices as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March
2024 were both approximately 9,557 square feet.

The total number of employees from ICGL (Hong Kong) as at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024 were 50 and 58 respectively.
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Waste Management

For the disposal of waste materials during the site installation
stage, either the main contractor or we will engage
subcontractors to handle the waste materials. While handling the
construction wastes, we require our subcontractors to: (a) ensure
the disposal of the wastes at licensed landfill sites; (b) engage
authorised or licensed wastes collectors (including chemical
wastes); (c) handle and store waste in a secured manner to avoid
pollution or contamination by wastes; (d) maintain and clean
waste storage areas regularly; (e) refrain from littering on site (both
on land or sea); (f) ensure waste collectors to cover trucks with
impervious sheeting or transport waste in enclosed containers to
minimise dust generation during transportation; and (g) maintain
trip tickets record.

The Group also encourages waste minimisation and recycling by
requiring responsible employees to (a) minimise over-ordering
and wastage of construction materials; (b) reuse glass panel
frame for transportation to reduce wooden box for packaging if
possible; (c) ensure works quality to avoid unnecessary repeated
works; (d) encourage suppliers to minimise/use recyclable
packaging; (e) return package materials to suppliers/other
organisations for reuse/recycle if possible; and (f) make use of
separate labelled containers provided by the Group for paper
and plastic to facilitate recycling of domestic solid waste in our
office buildings.

In general, the main contractors were responsible for arranging
waste disposal in the projects undertaken by us, and the Group
was responsible for the handling charges by way of contra-charge
or making direct payments. Therefore, we were not able to
obtain most of the data of waste disposal in our projects during
the Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period, there was
no construction waste generated from the project sites which
were handled by the Group. To develop proper waste disposal
management, we have set a target and action plan to maintain
waste disposal records for projects that we are responsible for
waste disposal as well as summary of complaint records on waste
disposal.
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On the other hand, our business operations do not generate
hazardous waste due to our nature of business. We have closely
monitored the office paper recycled and reused, and computer
assets disposal (which included desktop computers and desktop
monitors being recycled). During the Reporting Period, there
were 2 personal computers and 3 desktop monitors disposal and
recycled. Also, we encourage employees to bring their plastic
bottles back for recycling, as part of our environmental-friendly
initiatives. The details on the amount of waste generated and
collected, as well as their treatment are as follows:

Waste generated for the year ended 31 March

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R -HERERERS

H—hE - ARKRMANEHEE - B
MEBLETEELEREEY - M=
P B 5% O Y R B8 A A e o 8 PR AR K B
BEMNRERBR(ERER LERRIEER
WEERMER) - RBEHRE - BASE
EREB2EBABHKEICEMERE
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Wastes Treatment Method  Unit 2025 2024

=37 BB B —BCEHF —EopE

Non-Hazardous waste

FEEREY

Office Paper Recycled or Reused tonnes 2.73 2.69

/NS sk B A A A

Plastic bottles Recycled tonnes 0.22 0.14

B L A

Visual mockup waste Disposal tonnes 1.25 -
(deliver to landfills)

BB RAEEY) BEGEANISHEER) M

Total tonnes 4.20 2.83

wmEt Mg

Intensity tonnes per million 0.016 0.012

HK$ revenue’
=E GEEBTW RN

During the Reporting Period, we have reduced approximately
16.77 tonnes of GHG emission through recycling. We will
continue to contribute on environmental sustainability and
gradually improve our waste management plan in future.

/ The total revenue of the Group in FY2025 and FY2024 were around
HK$259,826,000 and HK$242,638,000 respectively.

RS ME - HAEERYRD 1677
MR Z=REBHEN - BREMSEERR
BAREEELER - XE P RERM
MEEYERE

7 AEBR-_ZE_RAFHBFER-_T_MF

BT 4R 2 1) 28 W 2= 9 B 49 5 259,826,000 7T
%2242,638,000/ 7T ©
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Noise Control

The main contractors will apply the Construction Noise
Permit from the Environmental Protection Department for
the construction works involving (a) erection or dismantling of
scaffolding; (b) loading, unloading or handling of rubble wooden
boards, steel bars, wood or scaffolding materials; (c) hammering;
and (d) other works that create noise from 7:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.
on weekdays and any time on Sundays and public holidays if site
installation works are needed to carry out on these days to fulfil
project requirements. In order to minimise noise pollution, our
Environmental Policy requires the Group and our subcontractors
to (a) select quiet equipment whenever possible, for example,
hand-held tools such as drill, grinder and welding machine,
for the site installation works; (b) avoid performing noisy works
during the restricted days and hours; and (c) shut down plants
and machinery if they are not in use.

Use of Resources

Minimising the consumption of resources is one of the key
considerations in our operations. As we have added new
vehicles during the Reporting Period, the energy consumption
is mainly derived from petrol consumption of vehicles, electricity
consumption from electric vehicles and office. For installation
works at construction sites, energy and water consumption are
managed by main contractors. Therefore, the corresponding
energy and water consumption data are not available.

Water Consumption

Water is supplied to our office building by municipal water
supply and we do not have any issue in sourcing water. Water
consumption data of office is not available as the related fee is
included in the rental fee of our office, the Group is unable to
obtain relevant data from the owner of the office premise for the
disclosure and establishment of water consumption reduction
target. Our Directors consider that our water consumption is
minimal as most of our operations are conducted at our offices, as
compared to factories or other construction companies.
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Energy Efficiency

As stated in our Environmental Policy, we implement measures to
reduce electricity consumption at sites including but not limited
to: (a) turn off mains-powered plant and equipment when not
in use; (b) select energy-efficient plant and equipment; and (c)
reduce non-essential load.

In the office, we control our electricity consumption through the
following: (a) setting energy-saving mode for computers where
possible; (b) setting room temperature range from 20°C to 25°C;
and (c) switching off unnecessary lighting and power supply.

During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption
was 87,333.68 kilowatt-hours(s) (“"kWh"), resulting in energy
consumption intensities of 9.1 kWh per square feet (“sq. ft")
and 1,746.67 kWh per employee respectively. The energy
consumption was incurred by company vehicles and
purchased electricity consumption of our offices. Both the
total energy consumption of electricity and the intensity of
energy consumption increased during the Reporting Period,
as compared to last year. We have set target to reduce energy
consumption intensity kWh per sq. ft by 20% by 2027 with the
2020 baseline.

Energy Consumption for the year ended 31 March

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R -HERERERS

BER 3R

IR ERF R A - IR AR IR
BB HRAEE - BREREIRRY
()RR ME R HER MBI T EIR : (b)
BIFERE MR KR ¢ (R T s
EHWRA

Q BAFBRBA T EHIAE

CE)FEAEEKEMREMEEN  (b)
RERRETERBRK20EERKNBEZ
@ ROfE T BENRARENHE -

IS NE
=

RSB - BERH A E /R87,333.68

TRE(TREN]) - 86 REREE
SRS FHR(EER]THHR
SHEE1746.67FHE - SRHFERE

NEAEWMEBAEBENENER - R

BEBH  BHRLRBEEERLRHY
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TR 20% ¢

BZ= A =1—HILFEREEFEE

Unit 2025 2024
B e —EMF
Direct Energy Consumption EEAERIEFE kWh T EL I 9,626.72 0.00
Petrol i Litre X7+ 993.33 0.00
Indirect Energy s REF kWhTF ELE 77,706.96 81,221.00
Consumption
Electricity BE kWh T EL B 77,706.96 81,221.00
Total energy consumption  AEFEEAE kWhTFELs 87,333.68 81,221.00
Energy consumption BERERERE kWh/sq. ft® 9.1 8.5
intensity BT RTF RS
Energy consumption ERERRE kWh/employee® 1,746.67 1,400.36
intensity BEEETRER?
8 The total area of ICGL (Hong Kong) offices as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 8 RZE-_AF=ZA=Z+—BER=_TE_NF=

2024 were both approximately 9,557 square feet.

The total number of employees from ICGL (Hong Kong) as at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024 were 50 and 58 respectively.

A=+—8 22&(FR)NRAERE
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The Group will continue to assess record and disclose our
energy consumption annually. We will continue to refine the
data collection system and develop reduction strategy during
the Reporting Period, such as requesting responsible persons to
perform check regularly on computers to ensure energy-saving
mode is on if the computers are left idling for a certain period
of time; perform regular checking to all temperature controls
in office to ensure the energy efficiency initiatives are properly
implemented.

Raw Materials and Packaging Materials

Aluminium, steel and glass are the major types of raw materials
for our operations. In view of the business nature of the Group,
there is no packaging material consumption by the Group. To
save the consumption of raw materials and saving costs, we
implement the measures as follows, including but not limited to
(a) ensure materials are handled and stored in good conditions to
prevent deterioration and wastage; (b) ensure materials are not
over-applied; and (c) influence subcontractors to take away and
reuse surplus materials in the same or other projects.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The major environmental impacts of our operations include air
pollution, waste management, noise and resource utilisation.
The significance of these impacts is identified and evaluated
according to legal requirements, environmental consequences,
uses of materials and company concerns. We continue to
assess the implications and requirements of the environmental
protection laws and regulations and apply for necessary permits
(if applicable) to conduct its work. We have adopted several
measures for these environmental focus areas as mentioned in
the above sections.

To promote environmental protection in our operations, we
actively participate in green building projects. During the
Reporting Period, we continue to implement the Building
Information Modelling ("BIM”) software for two of our projects.
BIM software aids in sustainability as it enables users to study
design options by taking environmental viability into account,
the software also supports the function of Energy Analysis which
enables optimisation on the building structure for an energy-
efficient model. Looking ahead, the Group will consider making
use of BIM software for more construction projects if possible.
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A4. Climate Change

Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges faced by
the society nowadays, and we must act now to be prepared for
the impacts caused by climate change on our communities and
industry. In recent years, extreme weather, such as strong winds
and heavy rainfall, as well as tides and floods, have become
the focus of news. Logistics and supply chains are particularly
vulnerable. Heavy rainfall, rising tides and floods can cause
serious damage to assets such as buildings, warehouses, and
goods in storage, resulting in financial losses.

In response to the Paris Agreement, the Hong Kong Government
issued the "Hong Kong's Climate Action Plan”, and formulated
various plans and actions, setting out the vision of “Zero-
carbon Emissions, Liveable City, Sustainable Development”.
The government has determined to set medium-term goal as
halving Hong Kong's total carbon emissions from 2005 levels
before 2035, committed to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050. In
the context of the global transition to a low-carbon economy,
the Group has also identified potential risks associated with
regulatory, technological, market and reputational aspects
specific to the location in which we operate. We will integrate
these identified risks into our business strategy, integrate
assessment and its results into the business risk management
framework, and continuously and regularly update and identify,
assess and manage various risks.
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BWEZE  BREEZMAREENEE
RS WRMAERRFINEBRERER
strategy as reflected in the governance and management B e

processes of the Company.

Action on Climate Change

The Group has taken references to the Recommendations of
the Task Force on Climate-related Finance Disclosures and
embedded climate consideration in the Group’s business

68

Core Element

The Group’s Responses

BOEE REEE MR iE
Governance J Set-up ESG Working Group and hold regular meeting
ER RIRE - HgRE R TIE AR ENRTER
o Integrate ESG topics (including climate-related issues) in

corporate decision making

RIRE - L RERHE(BRAREERAR) MALFRE
Strategy o Identify risk and opportunities in climate change and low-carbon
RS transition

7B B N AR AR BB B ) L i A 458

Risk Management

[\ i 32

ESG Working Group leading the Group to discuss and review
ESG risks

BRI B REATIFEREREENWEBERRE ek
ERREMR

Prepare for the transition to a low-carbon economy
RAERRAS B R

Prepare and set-up measures to combat physical climate risks
R 70 I 7E FE Y B RS SRR EL B PO 5 B

Metrics and Targets
EEME R

Establish GHG reduction targets so as to achieve net zero

emissions
SIEREREREEE - BRI
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We have assessed potential climate-related risks and

opportunities. These risks and opportunities are discussed in the

sections below.

&ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬂ

2 1%

° BRI M BAS T T X R AT

Lﬁo

Timeframe Risks Opportunities

LSRR [ s WA

Short-term (0-1 year) o Acute physical risks — extreme o New services to help communities

D HA(0-14F) weather events (e.g. coastal flood) decarbonise
é&ﬁ%@@*@ﬁ%ﬁ%#wwﬂ B YL s RR HO FT AR TS
k) o Technologies to enhance the

Securing the skills and capability
required to implement climate
strategy

FEOR B b R SRS P 75 OB BE RBE D

performance of operations and
energy efficiency

PRI & E R IR AL IR Sk as ) Bt

Medium-term (5 years)

RHI(5F)

Chronic physical risks —increasing
in mean temperature may have

an impact on the progress of
construction Work

et ERRER — ARSI
%mzﬁr

Transition risks — implementation of
low-carbon policies for the operation
BEER - AR EE R R
Transition risks — supply and demand
for certain commodities, products
and services may change as climate-
related risks and opportunities are
increasingly being considered

BR R — BEE E B R RAE R E
MEBNEHHEXINER 5 TH

P ERARBHE T g RS
ft

Transitioning to low carbon economy
market to meet government
decarbonisation targets

AR BT HEE - LERBFH
VERIER =S

Medium- to long-term
(5+ years)

PREI(SFAL)

Transition risks — potential new .
regulations and policies
BERER — B A AR NMBUR
Transition risks — development and
use of emerging technologies may
increase the operational costs, and
reduce the Group's competitiveness

3B PR R\ — 39 B 3% ) 7 5 A 458 PR T
BERIEINEERA - WHEAREKEH

BT

Transition risks — the Group's
reputation may be impacted due to
changing customer or community
perceptions of said the Group's
contribution to or detraction from
the transition to a lower-carbon
economy

BERER -HRNE Pt REAEE
PMEIRAE B E R N B RISURIBN R
BAERME  AEEBREARELMZ

E|J By 488
e

Transitioning to low carbon economy
market to meet government
decarbonisation targets

AR BT HEE - LERBFD
VERIER =

To work as a pioneer in the industry
and build up the relevant reputations

P ARTTRA R 2 AR
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A series of measures have been adopted to put in place along
the Group's value chain to help the Company prepare for climate

70

events. These measures are deployed for different geographies, o BERINEEHLRD  UBEREB@ME -
taking into account the asset type, location and relevance. These EZ:; EHET TR IR R I ETIHE -
are summarised in the table below: BRURR TR
Part of the
Climate-related Risks Mitigation and Adaptive Measures Value Chain
RIZEERER EENE S BEENES
Market risk Diversify material supply from multiple suppliers, sources and  Supply chain
M5 E R countries s
EEZERER  RRMREK - M EEHES T
Acute physical risk: Monitor and inspect assets regularly Operation
extreme weather events FHE I Mg B EE =g
SHEERR - BmAREN Maintenance of a Contingency Plan for all facilities and
projects
FAPTA AR 2 IR B I E ST 5
Establish a typhoon response protocol and coordinating Services
system, and conduct regular drills and post-typhoon reviews — AR7%
to ensure smooth execution of contingency plans
i 7 Be 2 FE 1 05 = ANG A - T BT TR AR TR [\ 1% [l
FEIR B S TRRIBRNIFATT
Enhance the communication capacity of customer services, in
particular post-incident customer communication
RAZFRBHERE S - FAREFRNEEENTFER
Acute physical risk: Deploy anti-flooding measures suitable for the assets, Operation
coastal ﬂooding including drainage systems, flood gates and flood barriers, if &7
SUMERERE : HEK necessary
MK - BEEEBEAOER - BREEOKES - Dtk
rapzad:zd A
Chronic physical risk: Maintain cooling equipment in good conditions Operation
increasing mean temperature  {RFFLANRMEEEN R AR RE EiE

e EEER  FERES

Review working hours of worker and provide better working
environment to negotiate for lower insurance rates

BERTANTERR  RETERE  HRERRENRRE
=

&
Increase drinking fountains for employees and workers, if
possible

FERTRERER T - RE B T ARHE Z KR
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SUBJECT AREA B: SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practice

B1.

Employment

Policies

Staffs are one of the critical success factors in our vision and
ambition to hold a leading and reputable position in the industry
and society. The quality of our staff is a determining factor for
our success, and this holds for both technical and support staff
of all levels. Our Employee Handbook sets out the details on
dismissal, recruitment, promotion, working hours, rest periods,
diversity, equal opportunities and anti-discrimination. Our
Human Resources Management Policy outlines our management
approaches on recruitment, dismissal, remuneration, and other
benefits.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group adopts the principles of fairness, impartiality and
openness, and recruits outstanding and suitable talents. Anyone
who has certain professional knowledge and who is passionate
about the work of the Group, who passes the assessment can
meet the requirements for employment, is welcomed to be part
of our family.

The Group values the personal growth and progress of the
employee as the future of the Group depends on the success
of our employees. We provide employees with smooth and
sustainable career development. We value the professional
competence of our staff and use this as a professional planner’s
professional development to build a professional team. The
dismissal procedure strictly follows the related laws and
regulations in Hong Kong. In case of termination of an employee,
a letter should be issued to the employee based on the contract
terms and Hong Kong Labour Laws. The resigned employee is
required to return all the company’s properties on the last day
of employment. Human Resource Department should use the
"Collect and Return Checklist” to ensure all items are received,
and both the employee and the department have to sign an
acknowledgement upon completion of the aforementioned
process. In order to enhance the Human Resources Management
Policy, an exit interview will be conducted for managerial grade
employees, by the department head to understand the reason
for the resignation.

FEHEB: g
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Remuneration and Compensation

To attract and retain talents, the Group offers a competitive
remuneration package with a variety of benefits, including but
not limited to salary adjustment, discretionary bonus, Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes, employee compensation for staff at
office and project site such as medical coverage for employees
and their spouses and children, medical insurance for injured
worker, and education reimbursement.

Rest Period and Working Hours

All employees are entitled to public or statutory holidays
as announced in The Government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region Gazette each year, as well as reasonable
working hours and rest periods. In addition to those holidays,
employees are entitled to annual leave, sick leave, maternity/
paternity leave, etc.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to provide a fair and equal working
environment for all employees, ensure employees are treated
equally in every aspect of their jobs. The Group recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diversified workforce to
enhance the quality of its performance. Diversity is the value
incorporated in recruitment practices. We are committed to
providing a discrimination-free working environment. The value
of diversity, equal opportunities and anti-discrimination apply
to all aspects in employments, including but not limited to
recruitment, promotion, transfer, job assignment, rewards and
benefits, training and development, and suspension.

At the Board level, the Group also recognises increasing diversity
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage.
Our Board Diversity Policy endorses the principle that our Board
should cultivate diversity and a balance of, including but not
limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender,
age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length of
service.
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Other Welfare or Benefits

To create a friendly and caring working environment to our
employees, we have carried out different staff activities to
cultivate self-confidence, sense of belongings and cohesion
of employees. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
organised Christmas Party and Annual Dinner for our employees.
Given the opportunities to socialise and interact with each other
in a relaxed atmosphere could strengthen their relationships and
cultivate their sense of belongings to the Group. The Group also
encouraged our employees to join Walk for Millions with their
family to encourage mutual support relationship among them.

Compliance Information

The Group strictly abides by related laws and regulations,
including but not limited to Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
(Chapter 527 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). A breach of these ordinances can result in civil
and/or criminal ramifications and significant impact on the
Group's relationship with its workforce. During the Reporting
Period, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group was
not aware of any significant non-compliance case in this regard.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R -HERERERS

AtfEu REF
RieRERIERERTMBEENTIER
B AMACHRSERERY  UEE
BENBEDL  BBEEEEN - RR
SHIE  ARERREESM TEARE
NBFBRE  EERNJESE TR
HRMEEMES - BB IR FIr
RAFERMMHARENEBER - A&
BT EREERRA-ELERETT
MR RS 2 M E SRR -

BHREH
AEEBEEETHBEREN  BREE
TRIERGEDDI(FBEPIESTE)
(REMEGED)(FEEDF282F) :
CREBIMERTEEFBE)(FREMNE
485% ) : CHERIEAR R DI (BB EDI S
480% ) : (K EE R L AR GBI (FEED
$£527%)  (BIREAR GO (FEEDIE
602%)  CBRERIED ) (BB EDE
487% ) RAHBELTE GBI (FBED
F608E) - ERZFRVIATGEERRE
R/SMERR  UBREZEAEER
HETWBRAER NREHHE - BFAH
o AREEAAMBEAR BT ENE
REMREM -

BHRERERERRR / —E_RFFR

73



74

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE  -#HEREREHS

Our employee profile and employee turnover rate are as follows.

Employee Profile
as at 31 March'

Employee Turnover'

for the year ended 31 March

B EEMR M EERARWT -

R=A=+—HH HE=A=1t—-HLFEWN
EEHR EEREER"
2025 2024 2025 2024
—B-RF —ToNE —E-HE —ToMF
Number of Number of
employees employees % %
BEAE BE AR % %
By Gender By Gender
Eoqidall g il
o Male 38 43 e Male 28 7
5 e
° Female 13 15 o Female 35 12
z z
By Age Group By Age Group
RFEAER RF AR
o Below 30 4 3 e Below 30 43 40
30BRIA T 30RA T
o 30-50 32 35 o 30-50 26 5
30ZE503% 30E50%%
° Over 50 15 20 o Over 50 35 5
505% A 1= 5055 A 1=
By Employment Type By Geographical Region
RIERER R IR R 1
o Full-time 50 57 e Hong Kong 31 8
a7 BB
° Part-time 1 1 e Mainland China 0 0
FeE H B A3
By Geographical Region
170 IR R I
° Hong Kong 49 58
o
° Mainland China 2 0
Y A
Total 51 58 Overall 30 8
e 2

It includes the employees of the Group only. Workers of the subcontractors

are excluded.

Turnover rate = Total number of employees left during the corresponding
reporting period / (Total number of employees left during the corresponding
reporting period + Total number of employees at the end of the

corresponding reporting period). The Group had a total of 22 employees
turnover during the Reporting Period.
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B2.

B HERERRE

Health and Safety

Policies

The Group is committed to safeguarding the safety, health
and welfare of all employees, workers, and persons including
subcontractors and the general public likely to be affected by
the normal operations. To achieve our commitment, we maintain
a high standard regarding safety and health. Our Industrial
Safety Policy aims to ensure that all our employees and our
sub-contractors’ workers under our responsibility are working
safely at the site area. On the other hand, any potential risks
thereon arising can be mitigated or eliminated through the
implementation of various measures so that the interests of the
Group can be protected and safeguarded.

Compliance Information

Our projects are subject to certain safety and health requirements
pursuant to the laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including but
not limited to Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance
(Chapter 59 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “FIU Ordinance”),
Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations (Chapter 591 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Safety
Management) Regulation (Chapter 59AF of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“FIU(SM)R"), Factories and Industrial Undertakings
(Lifting Appliances and Lifting Gear) Regulations (Chapter 59J
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved
in litigations of non-compliance. If there is any case of non-
compliance found in construction sites, the Group will take
immediate remedial actions to increase the frequency of site
inspections and provide additional training. We will continue our
efforts to raise safety awareness amongst our stakeholders and
to ensure that we learn from incidents happened to prevent any
reoccurrence.

Safety Management System Audit

Pursuant to the FIU(SM)R, we are required to implement a safety
management system and carry out safety audits of our safety
management system.
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During the Reporting Period, we were required to conduct
regular safety audits on ICGL (Hong Kong) as required by
FIU(SM)R. We had engaged an independent safety auditor
and conducted all the safety audits. These safety audit reports
revealed that we had maintained a good safety management
standard and there was no material finding of non-compliance
with the FIU(SM)R in relation to our safety management system.

Occupational Health and Safety System

Organisation

Our safety management system is monitored and implemented
by our safety officer and site supervisors, under our General
Manager and Project Manager respectively. As at the end of the
Reporting Period, we had 1 safety officer and 10 site supervisors.
We generally assign at least one site supervisor to each project
to monitor our safety management system. Our safety officer
and site supervisors conduct regular internal safety inspections
to ensure our operations are conducted in such manner so as to
reduce the risks to persons and properties.

Planning and Implementation

We adopt a preventive approach with an emphasis on hazard
management and risk assessment. We conduct internal risk
assessment and review regularly. We aim to control our risk
level by identifying risks and hazards in the course of execution
of projects and provide training and supervision to enhance
awareness of hazards and to be prepared for contingency
situations.

We have developed and maintained a safety management
system for our operation where records of non-compliance with
safety procedures and remedial measures are properly managed
and reviewed. We have adopted an internal safety manual
highlighting the general rules and regulations applicable to our
site operations. We also require strict implementation of our
safety system with supervision by us or the management staff of
our subcontractors.

Safety Education

We conduct safety induction training for our new employees and
subcontractors. Our subcontractors are required to provide safety
and protective equipment, such as fall arresters and safety boots,
to the workers. Our site supervisor also ensures that all personnel
wear protective equipment properly at the worksite.
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We disseminate occupational health and safety information to
employees, visitors and contractors and conduct briefings on
occupational health and safety on a regular basis. We provide
safety training to all workers at the sites for safety regulations
compliance. In case of new regulations or guidelines regarding
occupational health and safety, we would arrange trainings to site
workers to introduce the new regulations or guidelines. During
the Reporting Period, we have arranged trainings regarding
prevention of heat stroke at work, prevention of lower limb strain
injury and prevention of upper limb strain injury provided by
Labour Department.

Subcontractors Communication

We require our subcontractors to abide by all relevant
legislations, codes and guidelines as well as all safety
requirements as stated in our safety manuals and project safety
plans as well as to comply with all current and future enactments
relating to their works. While selecting the subcontractors, we
will take into consideration their safety standards, which include
evaluating their safety management system, track records on
safety and safety training records. Fines will be imposed on
the subcontractors if they fail to implement our internal safety
guidelines.

We hold regular meetings with our subcontractors to follow up
on any safety measures in the course of execution of the projects.
We also evaluate the safety measures regularly to improve
safety control. Subcontractors who failed to follow the safety
measures and refused or failed to rectify will be removed from
our approved subcontractors list.

Evaluation

All workplace incidents should be reported immediately to
the relevant project managers, safety officer and our executive
director and senior management subsequently. The incident
should be reported with requisite further information on the
incident, including the date and time of the incident, place
of incident and name of the injured. Investigation would be
carried out by our safety officer and corrective actions would be
implemented for monitoring occupational hazards in future.
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Office Hygiene and Safety

We implement measures to ensure the health and safety

of employees at offices. For example, (a) first aid kits and

fire extinguishers are equipped at offices; (b) pest control is

conducted annually; and (c) offices are cleaned and garbage is

handled regularly by designated personnel to maintain hygiene

of offices.

Safety Performance

Despite the fact that we have a comprehensive safety

management system together with various safety control

measures to mitigate safety risks, the occurrence of accidents

or injuries to workers on our sites is not uncommon due to the

nature of the works of the building construction industry. During

the Reporting Period, our performance relating to occupational

health and safety is as follows:

Safety Performance as at 31 March
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BE=A=+—Hax &%

Number of work-related fatalities A T{ERE ML T-AIAER
Fatalities rate per 1,000 workers? &% T AFHAISET-F 1
Lost days due to injuries BHITBEATIERR

The Group will continue to review the existing occupational

health and safety management system and elevate the safety

awareness of the employees and subcontractors.

12

Fatality rate per 1,000 employees and workers = (Number of fatality/Daily
average employees and workers) x 1,000.
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B3.

Development and Training

Policies

As stipulated in our Staff Training Policy, we expect all staff
equipped with up-to-date professional knowledge and technical
skills to support the Group's objectives. We encourage their
participation in various training courses and programs to enhance
job efficiency and working performance.

We support the training and development of our employees.
Reimbursement of the training fee will be paid to all employees
in accordance with the terms of our Staff Training Policy as well as
upon the approval of senior project managers, general manager
and directors.

We provide on-the-job training for our new staff. We also
encourage our staff to attend various training courses organised
by third-party course providers. We have also provided specific
site training to our site personnel in respect of the management
of quality, environmental protection, health and safety matters.

During the Reporting Period, our employees participated in
various training, including but not limited to Green Card Training,
Construction Safety Supervisor Training, Silver Card Training,
CPD Training for up-to-date leadership and strategic skills on
business management, Director Training for the Requirement
of the Listing Rules, BIM (Revit) Training, Company Secretarial
Practices Course, Health and Work Safety Talk, and Site Induction
Training.
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Performance F-$74
The Group had a total of 48 employees received training and RS - AEERHLBI8EEERE
completed a total of 698 training hours during the Reporting 255 - WE FTA 698/ NI o B IE
Period. The percentage of the trained employee, and the JNEEE S P NBRAEE =KAFY
average training hours completed per employee'™ are as follows: EIREFESET ¢
Percentage of Trained Employee Average Training Hours
as at 31 March™ as at 31 March's
BE=A=+—H BE=A=+—8®
EZEIINESEE S P E R RS
2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-RHE T UF —E-RE T JUF
hours/ hours/
% % employee  employee
% % EEE ONEES
By Gender By Gender
beoqi sl g el
o Male 100 95 e Male 17.11 11.98
= e
o Female 77 93 o Female 3.69 8.67
z z
By Employment Category By Employment Category
RIERLERR RIERER
o Senior management 100 100 e Senior management 8.22 11.60
SRERE BRERE
o Middle management 100 94 e Middle management 20.07 8.81
RAREEE ARETEE
° General staff 89 94 e General staff 12.25 12.13
—MRIEE —REE8
Overall 94 95 Overall 13.69 11.12
2R 2R
13 Data for Competence Person (Non-track) Training and AutoCAD trainings 13 HBBAT(GEEE) | &ZAutoCADIE IIAY
are excluded. HIETRIEEA ©
1 Percentage of trained employee = Total number of employees received 14 BN ES B ot =1AE RS R S
training during the corresponding reporting period / Total number of JImE B R RERSHRES R -
employees as at the end of the corresponding reporting period.
1 Average training hours = Total training hours during the corresponding 15 G 5 S B =B pE SR BRI AR SRS AR
reporting period / Total number of employees as at the end of the fEREEIRIEEAY -

corresponding reporting period.
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B4.

Labour Standards

Policies

The Group prohibits any form of child labour, forced labour
and illegal labour. Our major business activities are carried out
in Hong Kong. Our suppliers do not involve in labour-intensive
activities such as manufacturing in general. To the best of
our Directors’ knowledge, there is no operation or supplier
considered to have significant risk for incidents of child or forced
labour in terms of types of business activities and operating
locations.

In our recruitment process as stipulated in our Human Resources
Management Policy, our human resource department will inspect
and scan a copy of each candidate’s Hong Kong identity card
original copy and/or other documentary evidence showing that
he/she is lawfully employable in Hong Kong. We also installed
the required identification checking device onsite to prevent
illegal workers from working at the sites. Immediate termination
of contract and investigation would be carried out in case when
child labour or forced labour are discovered.

Compliance Information

The Group strictly abides by the Immigration Ordinance (Chapter
115 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employment of Children
Regulations (Chapter 57B of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
other laws and regulations relating to employment as stated
in the section headed “B1. Employment” in this ESG Report.
The Group, along with its Human Resources department, is
actively engaged in the continuous monitoring of updates to
employment-related regulations to ensure compliance. During
the Reporting Period, to the best of Directors’ knowledge, the
Group was not aware of any significant non-compliance case in
this regard.

Operating Practice

BS.

Supply Chain Management

Policies

The Group works closely with our suppliers and subcontractors
who are committed to high quality, environmental, health and
safety standards. To manage the environmental and social risks
of our suppliers and subcontractors, we have formulated internal
policies and procedures, such as Management of Subcontracting
and Procurement Policy to set out the selection and evaluation of
suppliers and subcontractors. As part of our Environmental Policy,
we prefer engaging suppliers in producing environmentally
friendly products (e.g. manufacturers that use eco-friendly
coating on their products). We would require certain suppliers to
provide environmental certification as proof.
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Supplier Management

Our suppliers include suppliers for (a) building materials
used in our design, supply, and installation projects, such as
aluminium, steel products, and glass; (b) material fabrication
or processing services; and (c) other miscellaneous services
such as transportation, rental of machinery and equipment, and
laboratory testing services.

Supplier Selection

The Group has established thorough procurement procedures.
In selecting our suppliers, we will consider their price, project
credentials and capability, the scale of operation, previous
performance and quality, and the time required to provide and
deliver the required materials or services. Where necessary and
appropriate, considerations on the impact on the environment
and social risks are also taken into consideration, such as market
reputation, waste management and environmental protection.
Suppliers with environmental protection licenses and Quality
or technical certification (ISO) are preferable. We maintain an
approved list of suppliers and it would be reviewed annually
and updated from time to time. Our project managers and site
supervisors will examine the quantity and quality of the materials
ordered and ensure that the delivery can meet our project
schedules and requirements.

Supplier Evaluation

After completion of the project, our project manager will assess
the performance of our suppliers based on, among others, their
(a) ability to meet the delivery schedules; (b) ability to meet the
test requirements; (c) response to our instructions; (d) ability to
honour warranties and guarantees; (e) integrity and ethical issues;
(f) quality of goods and services; and (g) cost competitiveness etc.
If a supplier fails the assessment, general manager or director
has the discretion to remove the relevant supplier from the list of
approved suppliers.

Subcontractor Management

Our subcontractors include subcontractors for (a) on-
site installation works and (b) the lease of machinery and
equipment. It is industry practice in Hong Kong for facade
works and building metal finishing works contractors to engage
specialised subcontractors for on-site installation works. These
subcontractors have their own labour force.
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Subcontractors Selection

We maintain a list of approved subcontractors, which is reviewed
by our project team on an annual basis. The established
relationship with our subcontractors enables us to have better
control over the quality and schedule of works. We select our
subcontractors based on various criteria, including their work
credentials, tender price, technical capability, and prior working
relationship with us. We also require our subcontractors to
comply with the applicable registration requirements issued by
the Construction Industry Council.

Subcontractors Monitoring

While the subcontractors are required to comply with all relevant
rules and regulations in connection with the works and their
responsibilities and policies relating to quality control, work
safety and environmental protection, we remain accountable to
our customers for the quality of services rendered by them. We
have put in place procedures and control measures to monitor
the quality of works performed by our subcontractors.

For each project undertaken by us, a project management team
will be established to oversee the general compliance by our
subcontractors with our requirements and we will also designate a
safety supervisor and/or site supervisor to monitor and supervise
the works of our subcontractors to ensure our subcontractors are
meeting the relevant safety and workmanship requirements. Our
site supervisors have regular on-site inspections according to our
safety and environmental requirements. We also have regular
meetings with our subcontractors to address any material issues
and to update their knowledge on safety and environmental
issues. We provide our subcontractors with our internal guidelines
on safety and environmental requirements and closely monitor
their compliance with our internal guidelines. We also investigate
the causes of any non-compliances and establish preventive
measures and maintain records of non-compliances regarding
safety, environmental and other issues of our subcontractors.

Furthermore, our project manager shall arrange a joint inspection
with our customers upon completion of the works done by
our subcontractors to ensure that they are consistent with the
contract design, specifications and requirements.
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We strictly prohibit our subcontractors from hiring any illegal
workers and we require our subcontractors to check carefully
the identification documents of workers engaged by them to
ensure that no illegal workers are hired. We also require our
subcontractors to follow the applicable laws and regulations in
relation to occupational health and safety at the construction
site. Under the relevant statutory requirements, all personnel
employed to work at the construction sites are required to attend
the construction industry safety training session on occupational
health and safety regulations and obtain the training certificate
before they can work at the construction sites.

Subcontractors Evaluation

We evaluate and assess the performance of our subcontractors
after the completion of the project. Our project manager
will review the performance of the subcontractors based on,
among others, their (a) ability to meet the delivery schedules;
(b) ability to meet the requirements of the test; (c) response to
our instructions; (d) ability to honour the defect liability period;
(e) integrity and ethical issues; (f) quality of services; and (g) cost
competitiveness. If a subcontractor fails the assessment, general
manager or director has the discretion to remove the relevant
subcontractor from the list of approved subcontractors.

Supplier and Subcontractor Profile

As at 31 March 2025, we have a total of 172 suppliers and 74
subcontractors. The majority of suppliers are from Mainland
China and Hong Kong. All subcontractors are principally engaged
in projects in Hong Kong. The geographical distribution™ of our
suppliers are as follows:

Number of Suppliers by Geographical Regions as at 31 March
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The Group has applied the aforementioned practices to all
of its suppliers and subcontractors, ensuring comprehensive
adherence throughout the supply chain.

1 It is determined based on the primary location in which products and/or

services are provided by the suppliers and/ or subcontractors to the Group.
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Bé.

Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to implementing and maintaining a
high-level quality management system with full compliance of
applicable laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, to
the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was no products sold
or shipped subject to recall for safety and health reasons and no
significant concern towards health and safety of customers due to
the nature of the Group's business. The Group also attaches high
importance to occupational health and safety of our employees
and workers at sites. For relevant policies and measures
undertaken by the Group, please refer to the section headed "B2.
Health and Safety” for further details.

Project and Service Quality

Policies

High quality of both materials and subcontractors’ works can
contribute to the effectiveness and efficiency of the operations
of all construction projects, which is crucial to our sustainable
development, as stipulated in our Quality Control Management
Policy.

Quality Management System

To maintain consistent quality and safety of services for
customers, the Group has established a formal quality
management system which is certified to be in compliance with
the requirements of 1ISO 9001:2015. A surveillance audit would
be held on a half-year basis by an independent third party, who
will visit the Company and selected construction sites to carry
out audit on selected business cycles to assure the continuous
implementation of procedures as required by I1SO.

Our project managers and site supervisors bear the responsibility
to monitor the overall progress and quality of works undertaken
by our material suppliers and subcontractors. Project managers
carry out annual assessment on the performance of the
fabrication plants and keep all records of review and assessment.
Subcontractors are also required to rectify works that are below
the required standards and report to project managers.
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Quality Control

Our quality management system is implemented in various stages
of our projects from procurement of materials to the installation
phase.

o Procurement Phase
We maintain a list of approved suppliers, which is reviewed
by our project team and procurement team on an annual
basis. We arrange for regular visits to the fabrication and
processing factories of our suppliers to conduct inspections
and quality checks to the fabrication process to ensure the
quality of the materials supplied to us.

Our quality control staff will inspect the fabricated and
processed materials produced by our suppliers on a regular
basis, and if any problems are found, our quality control
staff will work with the suppliers promptly to resolve the
problem, in order to ensure that the fabricated/processed
materials meet the requisite quality standards.

o Installation Phase
We impose strict quality control standards and
closely monitor the quality of the workmanship of our
subcontractors. We generally only engage subcontractors
on our approved list of subcontractors. For details,
please refer to the section headed in “B5. Supply Chain
Management” in this ESG Report.

In respect of subcontractors for installation works, we will
have regular site visits to monitor the subcontractors’ works
at the construction sites. Our project management team
have regular meetings with our subcontractors to address
and resolve material issues such as quality issues, to ensure
the works can meet the requirements of our customers.

We undertake various tests, such as tests on building
materials and fabricated/processed materials, tool
calibration tests, and tests on design performance and
installation, during and after installation of facade works
and building metal finishing works to ensure the project
meets the required quality standards and standards
required by our customers.
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Complaint Handling

Project Team and Commercial Team are responsible for
managing daily operations and commercial issues of our
projects. Internal control mechanism and terms of performance
indicator are clearly stated and included in the agreement with
the customer. We will obtain feedback from our customers upon
completion of the projects to identify areas for improvement. We
strive to improve our quality of work and the satisfaction level of

our customers.

According to our Conflict Management Policy, we have a
complaint handling procedure in place, whereby upon the
receipt of a complaint, a project manager will be assigned to
investigate and communicate with the customer to find ways to
solve the problem within three working days. All details of the
complaint should be recorded on the Client Conflict and Dispute
Report. Corrective, improvement and preventive actions are then
taken to ensure appropriate actions will be undertaken to ensure
the satisfaction of our customers. Senior project manager, tender
and procurement manager, or even the Board of Directors may
involve depending on the nature, scope, complexity and impact
of the issue.

No material complaints or demand for compensation from our
customers were received by us during the Reporting Period in
relation to any deductions, withholding, counter-claim or set-
off due to the quality issues in relation to the work performed by
us or by our subcontractors. When the project is in progress, we
will also conduct regular meetings to review our performance,
to handle any complaints received and to discuss if any
improvement that needs to be enacted immediately.

Intellectual Property

The Group's business does not involve research and
development activities. Nonetheless, the Group has implemented
a Copyright Policy to (a) iterate our denouncement of the use
of any unlicensed software or unlicensed copyrighted works; (b)
impose individualised passwords to each of our computers to
prevent and trace any use of unlicensed software or unlicensed
copyrighted works; and (c) establish different measures to
regulate the authorised usage of computers. All current and
future employees of our Group must sign an acknowledgement
of such Policy upon their employment.
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Marketing and Labelling

The Group does not rely heavily on marketing and advertising
and does not sell products. To the best of our Directors’
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant impact
relating to advertising and labelling on its operations. We
will closely monitor the business environment to identify any
significant risks in this area.

Protection of Client’s Privacy and Information

The Group strives to protect the privacy of its customers,
business partners and employees in the collection, processing
and use of their business or personal data. As stated in our
Employee Handbook, all employees are obliged to protect our
commercial and technical sensitive materials, and if they violate
the confidentiality policies, they will be prosecuted in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

The production, sending, receiving, transmitting, using,
copying, excerpting, storing and destroying of information are
all carried out by designated personnel depending on the level
of confidentiality of information. If an employee finds that the
confidential materials has been leaked or may be leaked, he or
she should immediately take remedial measures and promptly
report to the company supervisor. In addition, confidential
agreements are required to be signed with relevant parties where
applicable.

Compliance Information

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations relating
to product responsibility, including but not limited to Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). During the Reporting Period, to the best of our Directors’
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant non-
compliance case in this regard.

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B g RERERE

TS HERER

AEEY TN +DERBETHERERES
MEYNEEERER - BEFHMHA -
AEBEY TABHEEAEMERSE R
BRERABNEATE - RASTIESR
BERRE - LB B R A E AR

% -
RIEE SR ER AN

EEE RENMEAER  EBBHK
EENBERBEABER  AEEIBS
RERSHLE - HEEFMAE - 2
1R B W BRER IR X Rk
BR - MERREBEE - KFKRENA
BEDI FOEIRBARIE o

BEABRRBEENRERE
B BX - EW - B EH - ER
sk FEMRERER - MEEHERRE
FEMEDRIRKATRED RIF - RIEZ
BIERER A R pE L BN S 1) 2 ) = B 8]
& o WA - AR IRREEREET 4977 (WE
R)BEERE W -

BEREH
AEBERETHERETEBIER
KER - BRETRNEAER (FLE)
GBI (FBEDFE486F ) R HRIE 551 )
(BBAPIES28E) - RIEHIFE - BE
ERTA - AEES MU B EAE
RIEREMF -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R -HERERERS

B7.

Anti-corruption

Honesty, integrity and fair competition are the core values that all
employees of the Group should uphold. The Group’s Employee
Handbook sets out the employees’ codes of conduct in dealing
with matters related to acceptance of advantages and conflicts
of interests and is communicated to all employees. To avoid
any conflict of interest, employees or other related parties are
required to sign the Declaration of Conflict of Interest. During the
Reporting Period, the Group organised several anti-corruption
talks provided by the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (ICAC) with a view to enhancing the knowledge of
Directors and employees on anti-corruption practices and related
laws and regulations. The training was targeted at both existing
and new staff and covered general knowledge in common areas
of corruption and malpractice, introduction to the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance and sharing of past cases, etc. Through
this training, we hope to provide our staff with an in-depth
understanding of the importance of anti-corruption, and enhance
their awareness and ability to recognise corrupt practices so as
to practise the principles of integrity and self-discipline in their
daily work. Most of Executive Directors and our employees have
attended the talk.

Policies

Our commitments and values are guided by the Employee
Handbook and supplemented by different policies and
procedures. These policies and procedures are regularly
reviewed and updated to ensure appropriate ethical business
practices and behaviour as well as compliance with corporate
and regulatory requirements. Our Employee Handbook sets
out principles for acting responsibly in the daily operation,
including issues related to business ethics, conflicts of interest,
and bribery in the workplace. Our Anti-fraud Policy and Anti-
corruption Policy set out our management approaches on anti-
frauds and anti-corruption. It provides the guidelines on anti-
fraud and anti-corruption implementation, as well as treatment
and identification of frauds and corruption.
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Whistleblowing Policy

Our Whistleblowing Policy sets up a mechanism allowing the
employees to anonymously report any malpractices existing
in the Group to the Audit Committee under the condition of
confidentiality and maps out the investigation procedure. The
Group encourages employees to call attention to any alleged
misconduct or delinquency occurring in the Group. The Group
guarantees that whistle-blower will be protected from unjust
disciplinary action or harm as a result of any valid report. The
Group will periodically update the Whistleblowing Policy to
further improve our systems and procedures.

The Board and the Audit Committee have the responsibility to
monitor and review the implementation of the mechanism and
to advise on investigations into reported cases. The report can
be submitted in writing or email. All reported cases are promptly
and thoroughly investigated while confidentiality is respected
to protect individuals. If the report exposes alleged criminal
offences, the case will be consulted with the legal advisor to
decide whether to refer the case to competent authorities.

Compliance Information

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in Hong Kong,
including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, to the best of
our Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any cases
of significant non-compliance or related corruption litigation in
this regard. There was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or our employees.
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Community

BS.

Community Investment

Policies

The Group believes that community contribution is important for
sustainable development as it helps to establish a harmonious
society. The Group aims to develop long-term relations with
stakeholders based on mutual trust, respect and integrity.
The Group also seeks to make contributions to programmes
which have positive impacts in different areas of community
development (such as sports, youth education and social needs).
Employees are encouraged to volunteer and work through
collaboration with strategic giving as well as capacity-building
initiatives to try and create positive impacts in the community.

During the Reporting Period, the Group took part in a beach
clean-up activity organised by Environmental Protection
Department with 16 employees taken part and have contributed
a total of 32 hours to the activity. The Group also participated in
the “Caring and Inclusion “Disability Walk” Charity Walk 2024 (3
B[ 2E1T ]2 E H174£2024)" organised by the Hong Kong
Federation of Handicapped Youth on 13 October 2024, with a
total of 19 employees taking part in the event. The aim of the
event is to raise funds to support the development of sports and
arts for people with disabilities. We support the realization of the
concept of “Physically Handicap and Able-Bodied Integration”
and hope to gain a deeper appreciation of the abilities of people
with disabilities through personal experience.

The Group's donation amounted to approximately HK$122,000
in total, for the purpose of supporting sports development, the
construction industry in Hong Kong and low-income families in
Hong Kong.

Beach Clean-up Activity
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WA R TE

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lotus
Horizon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 171,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BY AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FRRETSE

Key audit matters are matter those that, in our professional judgment, FRFEAFEEZREBERMINFEHE - RaH
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial AHGREMFHRENEIRAEENEIE - F
statements of the current period. The matters were addressed in the FEIBERERMBTBEGSMBEHRIEEA
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a ERRETRIEN - RM T2 HZEEEREHR
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a ~ EBHER °

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
RRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMHEFtOMEEARETER

Recognition of revenue from the provision of design, supply and installation services for facade works and

building metal finishing works

BIRARPIMEIRREZESBHE TRORG - HERZERBHKE

We identified the recognition of revenue from the
provision of design, supply and installation services for
facade works and building metal finishing works as a key
audit matter due to their significance in amount to the
Group's consolidated financial statements and involvement
of significant management estimates in determining
estimated outcomes of the respective construction
contracts.
BME#HERRERHIMNEIIEREESBHHE LIZMR
At HERZERGH N STET RRREFEE - ThARE
THY EEENGEVBBRRMEBER  ARETEB
BESHNNMEARRR S RERERE M -

The Group recognised revenue from provision of design,
supply and installation services for facade works and
building metal finishing works to customers in Hong Kong
of HK$259,826,000 during the year ended 31 March 2025 as
set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
MRS M BERRMASHE  RBE-_T_HF=A
=t+t—BLEFE ESEEIAXREFTERTLHOREMIME
ITRAZEEHE TIERT  HERLZERBOKE
259,826,000/ 7T °

Our procedures in relation to the recognition of revenue
from the provision of design, supply and installation
services for facade works and building metal finishing
works included:

BMEERRRERMINME LR R BEECBNE TIZMR
it HER T ERBOKEIEFBEE

o Understanding how the management of the Group

recognised the revenue from provision of design,
supply and installation services for facade works
and building metal finishing works over time using
input method and estimated the total budgeted
contract costs;
TR BEXEERENAEREAERERERERK
BiIRftIME TR R ER B ™ TIERRET - HE
Nz E RGO W - AR IEHEETEE & LR AR
w8

o Understanding the progress of construction
services by discussing with project-in-charges and
management of the Group about the completion
status and billing status of the contracts on a
sample basis;

BBWEE SEEHEBASAREEERSON
TRBERMFERBRETR W - T REEREHE
RIER
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WA R TE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
RRETEE

BRRETEE G

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMHEFtOMEERARETER

Recognition of revenue from the provision of design, supply and installation services for facade works and

building metal finishing works (Continued)

BRRERMIMEIERREESEHE I RNRT - HERRERBHRE(E)

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognises revenue from provision
of design, supply and installation services for facade works
and building metal finishing works progressively over
time using input method based on the proportion of total
contract costs incurred at the end of reporting period
compared to the estimated total budgeted contract costs
to complete the contract. Since the measurement of the
revenue relies on estimations of total budgeted contract
costs, changes to estimated total budgeted contract costs
could give rise to material variances in the amount of
revenue recognised.

AR S M IMA M AR EE - EREERSH A ERER
EHRCEEMNA QKA %EET:EX AKMEETTRE A KK

REFEEDL BLEf;FEJﬁ*/FEﬁwJEf tOMIE T2 R
HTiER)RRAT » B R KRB MM aR - AR SR
BEAHRSEBNIG - G RESORARBREE A6

BYCOHAWNESHRERNEY -
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J Checking the estimated total budgeted revenue
by agreeing the total contract values to respective
signed contracts and assessing the recognition
of significant variation orders recognised by
management of the Group by examining against
the payment certificates or correspondence issued
by or with customers on a sample basis;
BBKANEBEEMEBRINANETLY &
ST RENRAE  TERAMERERPEH
AN BB RE S B P R SR AE B - R 5\7&. B
BERANEATIRERIECHRRER

o Checking the estimated total budgeted contract
costs against the supporting documents, including
subcontracting service agreements, purchasing
agreements or quotations, payment certificates or
invoices issued by subcontractors or suppliers of
materials, of respective construction projects, on a
sample basis;

LHRERIEE M) BRBEZR - RBWBELR
B NREEXDEHAMHHERRAANERS
FAXM - MRS EEATAES NN EER

o Assessing the accuracy of the actual contract costs
incurred during the year by examining against
the payment certificates or invoices issued by
subcontractors or suppliers of materials, on a
sample basis; and

BRENFBERD BEIM B AN
= Tmmﬂéiﬁ\iﬁiﬂ’],\%m,’JEJZZISE’]/QEEV_{
K

o Evaluating the reasonableness of project-in-
charges and management of the Group making
material revisions to estimated margins of
respective construction projects, by comparing
current year's budget against the last year's budget
or actual costs incurred for major subcontractors or
suppliers of materials, on a sample basis.

BEHMBELBAFERERLFERERTIENE
ARV EEOERKE - i EXEERA

BEANMEIRELHREE
KIEBH A -

HE WG ANERELE



Independent Auditor’s Report
o RR R E

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

HfER

BERAREFFHEMEEAR - HEE K
TEREFHBANEES - ETEREGEEMHRE
KB PIHLLL AZBED R o

B GEEMBHRRNBERL NREEME
B BT T EHZEREME R BERTAL AN

e RMHREBHERERNET  RFINEE
EHEEMER - EUBERES  EEEMER
R BEAVBRRIBMERTBRTAT
OB FEEREEREUFFEEARHER
BRI - ERHAIS AT TIE - AR
PRF/EMESTFEEAEREL - RAFTE
BEZFE - HEhm > RFPRBEMNRS

=

ESMAEERGS B RRAR
MEE

BERREFARRRBERBGEAERME
BRP B REERNG LR REB(RRED)
MEBEREREEEMT B SRS HRE -
WHE BB RELEREH B REROEE TN FEH
RERFF kSRR M E B B KRR AR AA
HRIEHIAR -

ERBEAMBHRERY  EFA8FE BE
BiSEL LM YHEERBR T HE RS
BREFMANER  UREARELE RS
A BRIFEFEEN BEEBRAFLE
& SREAMERNERTR -

BEEENMEHREBIE -
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WA R TE

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025

R AR BT 4R S M RRAEN

BT

BANER  BEUHSAMBEHRRBERL T
R EGFE R R M B A B A R ARG
BERE - WIRRIFIEE M EBLE FRE
A2EERDABBRRMEROZBERE -
Britb 2 5h - RIRE AT R EE M A% o B
PRLATRE 2 AR EHERE A LA T E
THEXEMERS - G EREEZSHKFHR
& ETRERERBRESEAENETHNE
it AR -EAHRBUAFER AR IR - 58
ARR AT A B ERFF Sk AR 51 - MR A IRTAH
THEBNERERAEEEERERBEZS
RAMBEMRMEHNGERTE - BIBEAE
AR GIEERX »

ERRIEEEETERETEFN B - &
PIERERERBRETERTEXHE - RS T
BXREREE - TT

o HBIMFHEARKFFRERMEREE
MBEBEREFEERERRAVAR - &
FAARHITEAREFARYELRR - A
RERFRIEENELRE  FAR
MERAER - ARNKEFAIEES K& &S
woRE - BRER - BB - S0k
BERABMES 2 £ - Hit REEREAR
FMEHMERERBANRERSRR
BE 25 3R X 8RR T 48 2 A B K 85 AR PR AL 19
[z o

TR EESH AR A BES] - ARETHE
BOEIEF BENYIEY BEEH
NEREFIN B RIEBRER

o HEEEMRASFEERNREERE
SEHERT A REN AR -



Independent Auditor’s Report
o RR R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminated

threats or safeguards applied.

R AR BT 4R S M RRAEN

BEEw®
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WA R TE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Au Mei Yin (practising certificate number: P04754).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ReEakEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—ECRF ke It =
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
g TExT FAT
Revenue Yam 5 259,826 242,638
Cost of sales HHEMA (233,642) (216,245)
Gross profit EA 26,184 26,393
Other income and losses, net Ha A RE BT 6 2,587 1,680
Net impairment losses (recognised) TRHEEEBRREAIE T
reversed under expected credit loss (BHER) BB ORERE
model HEE 7 (285) 248
Operating and administrative expenses 4% & R1THBH X (24,713) (22,946)
Finance costs BLE KR 8 (136) (1,446)
Profit before taxation MR FL BT F 9 3,637 3,929
Income tax expense FRSTHB 11 (444) (609)
Profit for the year F W m A 3,193 3,320
Other comprehensive expenses for FANHMEEMAS
the year:
Item that may be subsequently AIRA B D EZR B
reclassified to profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences arising on BB BINEREE LR
translation of foreign operations =R (11) -
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNZE K425 3,182 3,320
Earnings per share, basic (HK cents) FREEARZF B 13 0.16 0.17
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A PR R R

At 31 March 2025 W-E-_RE=A=+—H

2025 2024
—EB-hF e Sl e
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
M FET FHET

Non-current assets FREBEE
Property and equipment I EYSE ] 14 2,743 4,927
Rental deposits MEZ® 15 - 728
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIAE B 21 3,234 3,678
5,977 9,333

Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables E 5 R E MBI FIE 15 20,313 41,220
Contract assets BHEE 16 68,106 43,192
Pledged bank deposits BEIRIRITFER 18 3,000 3,000
Bank balances and cash SR NI S 18 63,372 75,452
154,791 162,864
Current liabilities RBAaE

Trade and other payables 2 5 R EAFERFRIE 19 24,985 22,665
Contract liabilities AHEaE 16 5,557 19,319
Lease liabilities HEaE 20 1,071 2,469
31,613 44 453
Net current assets REEEZRE 123,178 118,411
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBER 129,155 127,744

Non-current liabilities FREEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 20 192 1,213
Other payables Hh fE{FRIE 19 - 750
192 1,963
Net assets EEFRE 128,963 125,781

Capital and reserves EXRFEE
Share capital &N 22 20,000 20,000
Reserves Eie] 108,963 105,781
Total equity R 128,963 125,781

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 171 were FE17MHNGAMEREABEZTERN =
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 =R F/NA =+t B#bfERIREHEE

June 2025.
CHU KWOK FUN CHEN SHU AN
KEE R 2=
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
HITEE HITEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEREHR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

Share Share Exchange Other Retained
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total
BAE  RORE ELRREE HttEE KREEF st
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note)
(F&E)
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FNA—H 20,000 79,219 - 10,000 13,242 122,461
Profit and total comprehensive F W& I &% 2 H 258
income for the year - - - - 3,320 3,320
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-NFE=A
=+—A 20,000 79,219 - 10,000 16,562 125,781
Profit for the year EREF - - - - 3,193 3,193
Exchange differences arising ~ HEFINETFELR
on translation of foreign N ER
operations - - (1 - - (11)
Total comprehensive PHE(FAX)hamEE
(expense) income - - (n - 3,193 3,182
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_RF=A
=+—H 20,000 79,219 (11) 10,000 19,755 128,963

Note: Other reserve represented the difference between the share capital of the Company
issued as consideration of acquiring ICGL Technical Works (HK) Limited (“ICGL
Hong Kong”) and issued share capital of ICGL Hong Kong on 27 March 2019

pursuant to a group reorganisation.

MiEE - EtbREEIEA AR LEEE(EE)ERAR
(BhBEEER DOREMRITHORAEAZEES
AR-ZE-NF=A- T ARBEEEAMETH

IR R -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—B-RF —TMF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Operating activities KEES
Profit before taxation BR 5B 3,637 3,929
Adjustments for: HE
Interest income MBI A (2,620) (1,154)
Finance costs ARE A 136 1,446
Depreciation on property and equipment MENRETE 3,730 3,505
Guaranteed income from a life insurance ASRBIREBR
policy - (526)
Net impairment losses recognised EHEEEREAIBE THEER
(reversed) under expected credit loss (B D) REEIEFRE
model 285 (248)
Operating cash flows before movements in & EEEEFINKEHRERE
working capital 5,168 6,952
Decrease (increase) in trade and other B 5 N E b e FRIE R A (12 00)
receivables 21,670 (24,837)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets BHERE LI ED (25,234) 36,422
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K E b FERT FRIEIE N 1,570 9.747
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities AHaECR )M (13,762) 18,376
Cash (used in) generated from operations L (FTRFSRE (10,588) 46,660
Hong Kong Profit Tax refunded BIREIFEBEFEH - 518
Net cash (used in) from operating activities 42 EE) (AT ) TSR & 54 (10,588) 47,178
Investing activities REES
Proceeds from termination of a life ANERBE QL IEFTS IR
insurance contract = 3,515
Interest received B FE 2,620 1,154
Purchases of property and equipment EEMERRE (1,483) (40)
Net cash from investing activities REEBMERSFE 1,137 4,629
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—ECRHF —ZEmEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Financing activities MEEH
New bank borrowings raised BEEFIRTER 4,779 70,632
Repayments of bank borrowings BEIRITER (4,779) (99,420)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEEaE (2,482) (2,337)
Interest paid BEATHLE (136) (1,484)
Net cash used in financing activities A EHTBIR S FEE (2,618) (32,609)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash ReRBE&EEBYWORD )L INFEE
equivalents (12,069) 19,198
Effect of exchange rate changes HEEE B (11) -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ~ F#i1 ¢ KRS EEY
the year 75,452 56,254
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, F R\ & MRS FEY - RERRITEH
representing bank balances and cash ek 63,372 75,452
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents ReRHFEMHT
Short term deposits within an original REEIR R=(A Ak EREH
maturity of three months or less RHIFER 33,000 68,000
Bank balances and cash IRITHESB MRS 30,372 7,452
63,372 75,452
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands on 14 November 2018 and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses
of the Company’s registered office and the principal place of
business of the Company are set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” to the annual report.

Its immediate and ultimate holding company is Platinum Lotus
Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"). The ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company is Mr. Chu Kwok Fun (“Mr. Chu”).

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are the provision of design, supply
and installation services for facade works and building metal
finishing works.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong

Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

—REH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's
annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

2.

FE R FE] RASETT B R MR
HEAETER

A BRI S RT BB BB
WA ER

RAFE AEEDBEREAHRELR
HEAER((EEETAAE))FAGL
R-Z-MEmA—BRBNAEEF
AR SR B R TSI S BT BB 15
FEEUEHEL - UWREEAMBHH

*

ERMBHRERENF ERMEONEERE
1658 (BRI A)

Rl HEEN B AR IIF
FIRUETA) nEh R EERERS
R ZF-FF)NR
RAER]
EEGTER HREEFERBRE
F1REFTK)

BEERAETRE HEBRE LT
EEMHREER
EVLHCCHIRS)

RAFEEBRIETE BB HRELER
SR EAY EEARERANFEMBE
FENTBRRARER RS FHe
MR NBEEREATE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
Dependent Electricity?®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS

Accounting Standards Accounting Standards - Volume113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are
also made. HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include the applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

R RS e

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue in recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the entity’s performance as the entity
performs;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue when
it transfers control of service to a customer. The Group's major
source of revenue is its revenue from construction contracts for
the provision of design, supply and installation services for facade
works and building metal finishing works.

Provision of design, supply and installation services for facade
works and building metal finishing works

Recognition — over time revenue recognition

The Group provides design, supply and installation services
for facade works and building metal finishing works based on
contracts entered with the customers. Revenue from the provision
of design, supply and installation services for facade works and
building metal finishing works is recognised over time because
(i) the Group creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs and (ii) the Group's performance
are tailor-made based on customer’s specification which does
not create an asset with an alternative use and the Group is
restricted from redirecting the facade works and building metal
finishing works to another customer, and all the contracts provide
the Group an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to the date taking into account the contractual terms.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services. The management of
the Group has assessed that the stage of completion determined
as the proportion of the costs incurred for the facade works
and building metal finishing works performed to date (i.e.
subcontracting costs, materials costs and direct staff costs
incurred) relative to the estimated total budgeted contract costs
to complete the satisfaction of these services in each contract
and the margin of each contract, to the extent that the amount
can be measured reliably and its recovery is considered probable.
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3.

R RS e

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Provision of design, supply and installation services for facade
works and building metal finishing works (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration (i.e. variation
order), the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled using either (a) the expected value method or
(b) the most likely amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will be
entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that
such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment
of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the change in circumstances during the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Provision of design, supply and installation services for facade
works and building metal finishing works (Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Groups’ unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group completes the
facade works and building metal finishing works under such
services contracts but yet certified by architects, surveyors
or other representatives appointed by customers, or (ii) the
customers retain retention money to secure the due performance
of the contracts. Any amount previously recognised as a contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it
is invoiced to the customer and becomes unconditional. If the
considerations (including advances received from customers)
exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the input method
then the Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Warranties

If a customer does not have the options to purchase a warranty
separately, the Group accounts for the warranty in accordance
with HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets” unless the warranty provides the customer with a service
in addition to the assurance that the product complies with
agreed-upon specification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Property and equipment

Property and equipment are tangible assets that are held for
administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using
straight line method. The estimated useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

R RS L

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as

appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All of the Group's financial assets are subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets and other item
(including trade and other receivables, refundable rental
deposits, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash)
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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FEVBRRNEREERE
ER2HBEREE®

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

EREMBERRERE)

Financial instruments (Continued) EBMTAEE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)

BIRIRE BRI 2R R (R (B AT
1FRy & EEE R A E A A5 E ()

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (i) EERREEZEE

RiHHEERR B VIS HERIAKRE

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.

BEBBENE - AEEHNHE
BfemTAREEONER @ &
RN HEAEH SR T ABELEED
F R #ETTEE B o ROETT UL RFA

B AEEgZEAEMARE -
WAEBAN BB E KAk E R
REMEEREEER  BIFB
FEBRAEEER -

In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

B EEERRRTE RSN
B AT ERHETIARIER

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

SR T EAINEB (AN B )
N 212 B AT 4 B B B T8 B
HIRARIEREL

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the o
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit ratings;

X% BBSEEBRER
KRR G HBEANES - 1B
HIKIE R R B AEEER
HIBEN :

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, o
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

BEBALEXREERKEN
RIEBAE

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in the J
operating results of the debtor.

116 LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

0]

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability- weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
and contract assets where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised costs

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

R RS L

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. SREHMBEHRRNGEREERE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EEHBRER @

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued) EEETBRERH)

Leases (Continued) nE(E)

The Group as a lessee AEBERAAA

Right-of-use assets EHEEE

The cost of right-of-use assets includes: EREEENKABLRE :

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; o HEAENVIGRAESE

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and . REBEENEAVBERERAR

K

e  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in . REBEHRHLRBREMREE - BR
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring AR BE & A PR S AR B AR TR
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying ZHREERRIEFTIEE R REPT
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions BRI EFTAR AR o
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated EREEERKNREEMRAINE R

depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any WEEEETE  UHHEEAENE

remeasurement of lease liabilities. I EFETEELFE

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over EAEEERGTERAFEEEENMm

the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term. ERHREENERETIRITE -

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property and AEEBERAREEZIINIMERE

equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding 1 HENHEEEERAEAR - TR

underlying assets would be presented if they were owned. F—IEE 25 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are not included in the measurement of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets, and are recognised as expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

3.

R RS L

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages, salaries and annual leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits
are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange of the related services.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by the employees up to the
reporting date. Any changes in the carrying amount of the
liabilities resulting from remeasurement or interests are
recognised in profit or loss.

Termination benefits

A liability for termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
the termination benefit and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of cash flows include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term deposits
(generally with original maturity of three months or less).
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
management of the Group is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Recognition of revenue from the provision of design,
supply and installation services for facade works and
building metal finishing works

The Group recognises revenue from the provision of design,
supply and installation services for facade works and building
metal finishing works progressively over time using input method
based on the proportion of total contract costs incurred at
the end of reporting period compared to the estimated total
budgeted contract costs to complete the contract when control
of the goods or service is transferred to the customer. The Group
reviews and revises the estimated total budgeted contract costs
to complete the satisfaction of these services and the margin of
each project as the contract progresses. Budgeted contract costs
are prepared by the management of the Group on the basis of
quotations from time to time provided by the subcontractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of the
management of the Group. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, management of the Group conducts periodic
reviews and revisions of the budgets of contracts by comparing
the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred. Since
the measurement of the revenue relies on estimations of total
budgeted contract costs, changes to estimated total budgeted
contract costs could give rise to material variances in the amount
of revenue recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

4,

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Recognition of revenue from the provision of design,
supply and installation services for facade works and
building metal finishing works (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group generated
revenue of HK$259,826,000 (2024: HK$242,638,000) from the
provision of design, supply and installation services for facade
works and building metal finishing works.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets

The management of the Group estimates the amount of loss
allowances for ECL on the trade receivables and contract
assets individually based on their credit risk, after considering
the historical default experience and the financial position of
the counterparties, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and general economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operate.

When measuring ECL, the Group uses reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Loss given default is an estimate of the loss
arising on default. Probability of default constitutes a key input
in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the
likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation
of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations
of future conditions. Therefore, the assessment of the credit risk
of trade receivables and contract assets involves high degree of
estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash flows
are less than expected or more than expected due to changes
in forward-looking information, a material impairment loss or a

material reversal of impairment loss may arise accordingly.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$14,971,000 (2024: HK$31,098,000) (net of loss allowances
of HK$3,392,000 (2024: HK$3,427,000)).

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of contract assets was
HK$68,106,000 (2024: HK$43,192,000) (net of loss allowance of
HK$4,746,000 (2024: HK$4,426,000)).

AT RERZNEERER
(&)
ERAREBREMEIERBEESELN
HLREMRET - HERZERBEHU
=)
HE_Z-_RAE=A=+—HBILFE "
AEBELERBREIMNEIREREES
BEmE IREMNZ  HERTERY
B UK 25 259,826,000 7T ( = F — IO 4F
242,638,000/ 7T ) °

EZRUREARSNEENRERE

R "R ZHFRBEE QLR LT
R ARHEFAMEEENRER
BEHALEMETENBREHRIRE
AR AEEEEEREE SR
RERENEENEERR @55
FHEMEHMEEERNEBRRESE -

Rt ERMEEERER  AEEERE
FEIBERARNRMNEAAIES - AEA
BRENAEEER - BOBXEY
ERBIEANBRNMES - BOBETIE
ERHEEEENEEZEZ — - &N
BMERDER —FERBRANEDA LN
fat - Rt ESRELHE - RREY
RIARHTEER - Bt - B 5 RUGRIA
kERNBEEFEERRNFE S REERL
AFRTHEEN - EERARESRER
AIEMEEMESMER RSN AR -
ARt A EASERRERBENENR
EEEREM -

W_EBE-RFE=F=+—0 E5EkK
HIERREEA14,971,008 T (- =
ZPY4F : 31,098,00078 7T ) (F0FR S 1B 7
3,392,000/ 70 (= Z /U4 : 3,427,000/%
TT)) °

MN-BE-REFE=F=+—0 AHEE
SR T{E 468,106,000 7T ( =& — P4 -
43,192,000/ 7T ) (kB 18 54,746,000
EIL( T P4 : 4,426,00057L)) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and
receivable from the provision of design, supply and installation
services for facade works and building metal finishing works

5. WERDHBER

WaEAEBEREEMINDE P RAS
H%I%E&L %%ﬁﬁﬁl%im -I— {/\
ERZERBOBEWEERSEATF

in Hong Kong by the Group to external customers which is B HEBEEEERE A EBRLRE R
recognised over time using the input method and derived from FENHRBEH -
long-term contracts during the year.
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$ 000
THET FHET
Recognised over time BE R R AR
Design, supply and installation services for A TNEIBRIRET « HER LERSE
— facade works —INE T2 186,452 151,755
- building metal finishing works —BESEHMMIE 73,374 90,883
259,826 242,638
The Group's operating activities are attributable to a single REENKEEBRNE —2EHE -
operating segment focusing on the provision of design, supply HERpREH 9|\HII7&&§\_ %Eﬁfﬁﬁ
and installation services for facade works and building metal TR R - HERTERY - #5%

finishing works. This operating segment has been identified
on the basis of internal management reports that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"),
being Mr. Chu, the chief executive officer and executive director
of the Company, for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment. Other than revenue analysis, no
operating results and other discrete financial information is
available for the assessment of performance.

The CODM reviews the overall results for the year of the Group as
a whole to make decisions about resources allocation. No analysis
of segment assets or segment liabilities is presented as they
are not regularly provided to the CODM. The operation of the
Group constitutes one single operating segment under HKFRS
8 "Operating segments” and accordingly, no separate segment
information other than entity level information is prepared.

The customers of the Group are mainly property developers
and main contractors in Hong Kong. All of the Group's provision
of design, supply and installation services for facade works
and building metal finishing works are made directly with the
customers. Contracts with the Group’s customers are mainly
fixed-price contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with customers
The table below shows the aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or
partially unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period.

WKk oEHER @)

PTEREFEFENRTBANEENRS
&
TRETINBEHRRDEEEARETT(EHE
DRBEITNENEENR HERRE

2025 2024
—E-RF —Z D u4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Provision of design, supply and installation $2ft5ME TI2 R ERE ¢ & hE T2
services for facade works and building BVERET ~ B R RS
metal finishing works 323,478 327,214

These amounts disclosed above do not include transaction price
allocated to performance obligations which have been satisfied
but not yet recognised due to variable consideration constraint.

Based on the information available to the Group at the end of
the reporting period, the management of the Group expects the
transaction price allocated to the above unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) contracts in respect of provision of design, supply
and installation services for facade works and building metal
finishing works as at 31 March 2025 will be recognised as revenue
during the years ending 31 March 2026 to 31 March 2028 (2024:
years ending 31 March 2025 to 31 March 2026).

Geographical information

All of the Group’s revenue from external customers was
generated from customers located in Hong Kong and all of
the Group's non-current assets (excluding rental deposits and
deferred tax assets) were located in Hong Kong.

EXBENZFERIEEIEECRE
TTIER A 2K ER MR ERNED
AREHRHE -

BREBERBERRAEBENABER - &
SEEEEBH RN-_T-_HF=A
=+—H MEHINEIERBEESE
HE TIZARRET - HERLERE S
ZELARBEIT(XEDRBIT)EHHR
SEBENREBEE-_E-_E=A=+—8
E-E-N\E=ZA=+—BLEE(-F
TWF BETERF=A=+—H
ECE-RE=ZA=+—BILFE)ER
BES ©

HEER
AEBEREIINBREERWZEZ IR E AL
REBNEFS RASENIERBEE (T
BIEEERe MELEHRIEEE) 2R
BE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WakoEER @)
(Continued)
Information about major customers ERETEEFNESR
Revenue from customers individually contributing over 10% of RAFZ B R B R BN S E AR 10%
the total revenue of the Group during the year are as follows: WEPEENKENT
2025 2024
—EHF —EUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Customer A! BPA 81,283 37,665
Customer B? B2 59,648 31,960
Customer C? BRC? 49,410 125,293
Customer D? ®FD? N/ATE A3 30,535
Notes: MEE
1 Revenue from design, supply and installation services for facade works. 1 REINETIZERET - HhIE R R R H s
2 Revenue from design, supply and installation services for facade works and 2 REHME LIRS B A T2 R - #
building metal finishing works. J& Ko 22 5 ARG O Wi as ©
3 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue 3 FERNRTEERBBAEENFHFEE
of the Group for the relevant year. AR EI10% ©
6. OTHER INCOME AND LOSSES, NET 6. HWARERFHE
2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Bank interest income RTTHLBHA 2,620 1,154
Income from a life insurance policy ASRE Y = 526
Net exchange loss b H SR FEE (33) -
2,587 1,680
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

7.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES (RECOGNISED)
REVERSED UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS

7. AHIEEFEENEINTE
(FERR) 5 R E 65 15 73 58

MODEL
2025 2024
—E_REF —E O
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Net impairment losses (recognised) AT HRIAD (HER) B AR E
reversed on: SR8 -
— trade receivables —B S RUGIE 35 (71)
— contract assets —EHEE (320) 319
(285) 248
FINANCE COSTS 8. EEMA
2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Interests on: AT EIEMFE
— bank borrowings —RITER 6 1,200
— lease liabilities —-HERE 130 246
136 1,446
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. ERFiANEF
2025 2024
—E_RF —EOF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F&T T
Profit before taxation has been BREREDEMEMBRIATSIE

arrived at after charging:

Directors’ remunerations (note 10) FEHM(HFE10)
Fee we 637 540
Other emoluments HibMe 3,559 4,474
4,196 5,014
Other staff costs HAh B TpA
Salaries and other benefits e M E AR 31,823 31,338
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  EAh & TRIKEFIFT 2R
for other staffs 915 894
Total staff costs B TR AR 36,934 37,246
Auditor’s remuneration (X Gl 880 1,100
Variable rents in respect of office Rt AHEEENPFAERME &
equipment which are not included in e (M)
lease liabilities (Note) 1 -
Depreciation on property and equipment  #13 &R BT E 3,730 3,505
and after crediting: REETA
Income from a life insurance policy AERE Y - 526
Note: The operating lease rentals for office equipment are determined according M MAERENCEHERS IRIEBLEE
to predetermined fixed cost and the excess usage of printing pages pursuant METK A EBEBAERTIEH 2GR
to terms and conditions that are set out in respective rental agreements. R B BRI E B B i -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’, chief executive officer's and employees’

emoluments

Details of the emoluments paid or payable by the Group
to the directors of the Company and the chief executive
officer of the Group (including emoluments for services as

10. E% - RETBRAEBRESHN
#rp

(a)

EE  BSTTBRAEBREEN

1]

REAXREBEENHENARFE
ERAEBERFITERA BB M
(BREIASEREHEEZNG

employees or directors of the Group) during the year are as i) SFIFa T -
follows:
Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit
and other incentive scheme
Fees allowances payments  contributions Total
ek xEHH RIER
ik Hitn2eh REAR FTEIfER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
(Note a)
GiED)
Year ended 31 March 2025 HZE-ZT-HE=A
St-HLEE
Executive directors: HIEE:
Mr. Chu KEE(THER)
(Chief executive officer) - 1,944 810 18 2,772
Mr. Chen Shu An Bz (TREED)
("Mr. Chen") (Note b) (Fisb) 97 78 - 21 196
Mr. Tsang Chiu Wan pmarE(BRE])

("Mr. Tsang") (Note ¢) (MfzEc) - 477 211 - 688
Sub-total et 97 2,499 1,021 39 3,656
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHITEES :

directors:

Ms. Leung Yin Fai PHBIL 180 - - - 180

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun SRELE 180 - - - 180

Ms. Yuen Wai Yee REERT 180 - - - 180
Sub-total et 540 = = = 540
Total et 637 2,499 1,021 39 4,196
Year ended 31 March 2024 HZ-E-WE=H

St-HLFE

Executive directors: HITES:

Mr. Chu KEE(rEsER)

(Chief executive officer) - 1,944 810 18 2,772

Mr. Tsang SR - 1,267 423 12 1,702
Sub-total et - 3,211 1,233 30 4474
Independent non-executive  BUFRITEE -

directors:

Ms. Leung Yin Fai ZHEBIL 180 - - - 180

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun HEEEE 180 - - - 180

Ms. Yuen Wai Yee REGNT 180 - - - 180
Sub-total INet 540 - - - 540
Total 5t 540 321 1,233 30 5014
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Directors’, chief executive officer’s and employees’

emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

a. The performance related incentive payments are determined based
on the performance of the individuals and the Group and market
condition for both years.

b. Mr. Chen was appointed as an executive director on 11 June 2024.
c. Mr. Tsang retired by rotation from the office of executive director on
16 August 2024.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Chu was appointed as the chief executive officer and
executive director of the Company and his emoluments
above include those for services rendered by him as a chief
executive officer.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals include one (2024: two)
director(s) of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2025, details of whose emoluments are included above.
The emoluments of the remaining four (2024: three)
highest paid individuals who are neither a director nor chief
executive officer of the Company are as follows:

10. E% -

M=)
(b) &S

RETBRAERESHN

HE_ZT_RF=-A=1t—HIL*F
B IEEeHFMALEBE %
—ToNEMBR)ARAES
ﬁf‘ﬂﬁ—éﬁ@\ﬂ’h?l BN 3 &

TH&(ZZF M4

=R)BSF

@H/\i(lﬁEK AEFKZRTT

BAB)HMESIT -

2025 2024

—E-FRFE —EPUF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET THT

Salaries and other allowances e KHEAMZERL 4,894 2,944
Performance related incentive FIREMG R R (B EE)

payments (Note) 896 634

Retirement benefit scheme IRIRAEFFT B
contributions 54 54
5,844 3,632

Note: The performance related incentive payments are determined based
on the performance of the individuals and the Group and market
condition for both years.

The emoluments of remaining highest paid individuals who
are not directors of the Company were within the following

band:

i - RBABRENFRENREFEDH
EARAREERBFARTIGRRETE

BRTLFARBESTNRSTMA

THFMERE T -

Number of individuals

A
2025 2024
—E-RFE —E_UF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ Z=1,000,0005 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 755 1,500,000 7T 2 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T % 2,000,000/ 7T 2 -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of
the Company or the five highest paid individuals (including
directors and employees), as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. None of the directors of the Company nor the chief
executive officer of the Group waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments for both years.

AEERERNARTEETRELR

EHMAL(REEERER

)3

ERME - FRRSIEMAREE
0 AR /Y B2 D Sk 1F A BRI 15

T - RMEFE MELARRES

SAKEEETRABRELRE

MEEAME -
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

11. FIBHBEX

2025 2024

—E-RF —Z D u4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

The income tax expense comprises: FrEHAZ 8%

Deferred tax expense (note 21) RAER AR (FFE21) 444 609
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made in the financial HE_Z-_AF=A=1+—RBEKZ=%
statements for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March “ME=ZA=+T—HIFE ' ¥HHRE
2024 as the estimated assessment profit was wholly absorbed by MESTHEE ARG EE - RESME
tax losses brought forward. JE R T v M B A 0 ) FH TR B 18 B BT B o
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REEMEHAY B EBE REM
profit before taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss EPHWERFAORTADENERET

and other comprehensive income as follows:

2025 2024

—E_REF =Syt o=

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET THET

Profit before taxation B AR B & 3,637 3,929

Tax charge at the applicable income tax
rate at 16.5%
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for

BB SR R16.5%t ERTHIE
g 600 648
TAHIF AT OGS E

tax purpose 238 208
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERTBRAR TS 2

purpose (418) (271)
Others HAtb 24 24
Income tax expense for the year FRAEHREX 444 609
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

12.

13.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end

of the reporting period.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
of a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2025.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the

following data:

12.

13.

RE
ARATRBE_ZEZ-_RF=A=+—8H
F_E-NFE=ZA=+—HILFEHH
MERARREBRER R M E#EIK
ERE - BAEREBARARTHEES
AK?E?‘TEHH“ Boe

ARARBEEITERRNBE-_F_0F
ZA=+T—HIEFENREESR -

ZRAR
SREARRFIRA TRIEH

2025 2024
—E-FE —FmEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET
Earnings: B
Profit for the year for the purpose of A BEFRERBNNFEREH
calculating basic earnings per share 3,193 3,320
‘000 ‘000
T TH&
Number of shares: 2 -
Weighted average number of ordinary M B EREREN N E R
shares for the purpose of calculating INiEF 58
basic earnings per share 2,000,000 2,000,000
No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Group has no BERRNEENRESEHEDBITER
potential ordinary shares in issue during both years. LB - IR GRESERR) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. MERZE
Right-of-use assets Office
ERERE equipment
Office Office Leasehold and Motor
equipment premises Subtotal improvements furniture vehicle Total
HEME  BOERA
HWAERE  BOAZNE gt i RER haf: 3 @t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEL TEn TEn T Thx TEL TEL
cosT S
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FMA-A 1517 10877 12,304 4,808 1,663 - 18,865
Additions hE 12 - 7 - | - 112
Write-off upon end of lease FEEEEE ik (600) - (600) - - - (600)
At 31 March 2024 RZZZME=A=+-H 989 10877 11,866 4,808 1,703 - 18,3717
Additions A 63 - 63 - - 1483 1546
At 31 March 2025 R_E_RFZA=+-A 1,052 10877 1199 4,808 1,703 1483 19,923
DEPRECIATION il ]
At 1 April 2023 RZE-ZFEA-A 69 5,884 65719 2,647 1319 - 10,545
Provided for the year FRERE pAY 2140 2319 92 164 - 3,505
Eliminated on write-off upon RBER kRS
end of lease (600) - (600) - - - (600)
At 31 March 2024 R_E_MF=A=+-A 334 8,024 8,358 3609 1483 - 13450
Provided for the year R 266 2140 2,406 978 %9 2147 3730
At 31 March 2025 R_E-RF-A=+-H 600 10,164 10,764 45871 1,582 247 17,180
CARRYING VALUES KA
At 31 March 2025 WZB-RF=F=1-A 452 73 1,165 21 121 1236 2743
At 31 March 2024 RZZZME=A=+-H 655 2853 3,508 1199 20 - 497
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property
and equipment, using the straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Over the lease terms
Over the shorter of lease

Right-of-use assets
Leasehold improvements
terms or 5 years

14. YPERRE®)
AEBRITERE  NERESER

TR ISR B0 3 R R L B L

N

ERmAE b

MENEEE  AMRSE(UREE
BE)

Office equipment and furniture ~ 20% MAERE LM 20%
2025 2024
—E-RE —T_F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FA&T

Variable lease payments not included At AHEBEFENAEHE

in the measurement of lease liabilities BN 11 -
Total cash outflow for leases HERES ML 2,623 2,583

For both years, the Group leases various office premises and
office equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 4 years to 5 years (2024: 4 years to 5 years).
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

RMEFE  AEERSEREZ @EAMR
REMERBEERAERE - HERHD
REFHBAMEFERF(ZT_MNE : 1Y
FERF)RIL - HEGRKIVIRERE
ERER - W EESETRRR G
HEERBEFGE T BEBRNRE
B AREERAAONTER  LTETH
SREITTE OB ERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

14.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Some of the office equipment in which the Group is the lessee
contain variable lease payment terms that are based on excess
usage of printing pages. The variable lease payments depend on
the usage of printing pages for each month of the leased office
equipment. Variable lease payment terms are used to link rental
payments to actual usage of printing pages and to reduce fixed
cost. The amount of fixed and variable lease payments paid/
payable to relevant lessors for the year ended 31 March 2025:

14. MERRZRE®

$%l¢B%ﬂAM”$%/§&ﬁ%

ATEBEENTIER - BEIERERE
%@%Wﬂﬁ%onﬂ 2N FRTE
ERANERHEESRAINDERAEME °
AERAENTIERARELERBE R
EEYIENE SHEWREEFERAN - 7
HE_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE
Eﬁ/ﬁﬁm%ﬁﬁAmlm&T“ﬁ
ERZREeEUOT

2025 2024
—E-FRFE — T PUF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Fixed payments Eha et
— for certain office equipment with — BB E N FIEREE T
variable payment terms NEHRE 318 289
— for other lease assets —BRHMEEEE 2,294 2,294
2,612 2,583
Variable payments for certain office
equipment ATHAERE R EH 11 -
2,623 2,583
Restrictions or covenants on leases HENRFIHZE
Lease liabilities of HK$1,263,000 (2024: HK$3,682,000) are RZE_RF=HA=+—H 2%

recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$1,165,000 (2024:
HK$3,508,000) as at 31 March 2025. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessors. Leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out
in note 20.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

15. EZ R HMEWRE

2025 2024
—E-HEF —EUF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTExT FAT
Trade receivables =) e e 18,363 34,525
Less: Allowances for impairment R E R (3,392) (3,427)
14,971 31,098
Rental deposits HEZR® 728 728
Deposits and prepayments e RIaNFKRIE 4,020 9,392
Other receivables H At R GRIR 594 730
20,313 41,948

Less: Rental deposits classified as B DEAERBHONEERS
non-current portion - (728)

Current portion of trade and other B 5 R EAREWFIERRENE

receivables 20,313 41,220

Trade receivables represent amounts receivable for work certified
after deduction of retention money by customers.

The Group usually allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 74
days to its customers. Before accepting any new customers, the
Group will internally assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customers. Recoverability of the
existing customers is reviewed by the Group regularly.

As at 1 April 2023, the trade receivables amounted to
HK$12,227,000, net of loss allowances of HK$3,356,000.

B HRWFIARE REH T2 WA
(HBrEPRERE)

AEBBTERNEFEFPRHEN FI0£2748
MEEH - ERIEMHEZLA &A%
B BEEEPNEEERETARRT
MRREFEEEERE - BATPH
AT U Bl 8RB AR A SR B Hi AT o

RZE_=FMA—RH BEZFEKKX
18 /12,227,000 % 7T (HOBR B E B B
3,356,000 7T) °
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net
of loss allowances, presented based on the approval dates of
work certified by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers, at the end of the reporting period,
which are also the dates when the Group's right to consideration
became unconditional:

15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

ESREMBEWRIE G

LT ARBERREESMEINREE
G B R R RE Y T2
& B EI (TN B A E U A B IR A
g B) IR 6B 5 R UGRE (Nk
B IR RIS DT

2025 2024

—E-RF —Z D u4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TR

0 to 30 days 0£30H 6,623 18,315
31 to 60 days 31260H 7,100 11,378
61 to 90 days 61E290H 1,248 245
Over 90 days B30 A - 1,160
14,971 31,098

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$2,702,000 (2024: HK$6,481,000) which are past due as at the
reporting date. No balances have been past due 90 days or more
and considered as in default based on repayment records of
those customers and continuous business with the Group.

Trade receivables
Loss allowances for trade receivables have been measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL under simplified approach.

Details of the impairment assessment of trade receivables are set
out in note 17.

Otbher receivables (including refundable rental deposits)
For purpose of impairment assessment, other receivables
(including refundable rental deposits) of HK$1,322,000 (2024:
HK$1,458,000) are considered to have low credit risk as they
are not due for payment at the end of the reporting period and
there has been no significant increase in the risk of default on
other receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, for the
purpose of impairment assessment for these receivables, the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL. For
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group assessed
the ECL for other receivables were insignificant and thus no loss
allowance was recognised.
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RZEBE-_RF=ZA=+—H ' x%EE
MESRKFIELERBERABZER
2,702,0007 7T.( —Z P04 : 6,481,000
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EEMBDBHOHSA L AREZER
FREFCHSRANEBNFEESHS
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8 5 BWRIE
g5 REGRENE BB EREGRR
EFR2HEMEEERNSREAE -

B 5 RUGRIR R ERHE R FF IS BN
17

HiEWFHE(EBETEREEERS)
BBEFEME - EMERZE(RE
AR EIFAEIZ S )1,322,008 T ( ==
— PO ¢ 1,458,000 7T ) (RIEAKEE
Rk - EARREBRZEFRIBWIEER
HifE - B B9 ERE E M E U 5k 0E
FEARBRIYMABEIZN - Bt - 3%
ZRWGIERREN NS - BiEEE
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EHEZE_AFA_FT_WNF=A
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

16. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 16. ENEEREGNEE
LIABILITIES
2025 2024
—E_REF —EOFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FA&T
Analysed for reporting purposes, on a net HMEEH - BHEEEL
basis for each respective contract: PUFREEREETT O
Contract assets BREE
— facade works —HMETLRE 55,425 33,672
- building metal finishing works —RES B IR 17,427 13,946
72,852 47,618
Less: Allowances for impairment W ORE R
— facade works —SMETAR (4,714) (4,394)
- building metal finishing works — R EAE IR (32) (32)
(4,746) (4,426)
68,106 43,192
Contract assets, net of allowances for SREE(HBRRERE)
impairment
— facade works —HMETAE 50,711 29,278
- building metal finishing works —REeBMEmIR 17,395 13,914
68,106 43,192
Contract liabilities EREE
— facade works — MBI (2,234) (15,510)
- building metal finishing works —RESEMHmIE (3,323) (3,809)
(5,557) (19,319)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

16. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (Continued)

16. BHNEEREGNEE®)

2025 2024
—E-REF —EPUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FA&T
Analysed on a gross basis for each FHHEAS B E T
respective contract: DA
Contract assets BREE
— facade works —HMETLRE 57,317 39,055
- building metal finishing works —RES B IR 19,031 14,582
76,348 53,637
Less: Allowances for impairment W ORE R
— facade works —SMETAR (4,714) (4,394)
- building metal finishing works — R EAE IR (32) (32)
(4,746) (4,426)
71,602 49,211
Contract assets, net of allowances for SREE(HBRRERE)
impairment
— facade works —HMETAE 52,603 34,661
- building metal finishing works —REeBMEmIR 18,999 14,550
71,602 49,211
Contract liabilities EREE
— facade works — MBI (4,126) (21,211)
- building metal finishing works —RESEMHmIE (4,927) (4,127)
(9,053) (25,338)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

16. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 16. BRNEERENAE®)

LIABILITIES (Continued)

Contract assets

Retention receivables, included in contracts assets, represent the
money withheld by the customers to secure the due performance
of the contracts. The customers normally withhold 10% of the
certified amount payable to the Group as retention money
(accumulated up to maximum 5% of contract sum). 50% of
retention receivable is normally recoverable upon the issuance
of the certificate of practical completion by the architects for
the completion of respective projects. The remaining 50% is
recoverable after the completion of defect liability period of
the relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified
in the relevant contracts, ranging from 1 to 2 years from the
date of completion of respective projects. Any amount of
retention receivables previously recognised as a contract asset is
reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it becomes
unconditional and is invoiceable to the customer. The retention
money does not have any significant financing component for
financing benefit. The amounts are unsecured and interest-free.

As at 1 April 2023, the contract assets amounted to
HK$80,471,000 on a gross basis for each respective contract,
net of loss allowances of HK$4,745,000, and amounted to
HK$79,295,000 on a net basis for each respective contract, net of
loss allowances of HK$4,745,000, respectively.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of retention
receivables, included in contract assets, net of loss allowances,
held by customers for contract works amounting to
HK$37,854,000 (2024: HK$38,983,000).

The retention receivables, net of loss allowances, are to be
settled as follows:

BREE

EUREE (FFAGHNEE) REFPLE
REEBTALNMMENTKIEA - TP —
BIERNAEENSZESRI0%ER
RES(RESERNTEREZ5%) ° &
YR B & 8950% — MR AT R 2 SLRD Bt AR R IR
BRTHELANERRTIERER KD -
#R T 50% R X AERE A K RIE BITTAIR AR
EHRESHANER(HRAEBRIA
HEEFT M 1229 ) [ - ERTHERRE
#VE B A ] FE YR B 2 SRR AR
BEARATPHARERENIHEE
B 5 RWHR - RE S W ETMA I ERS
BENGMERBREMAKTD - XL
REEARRE

RZEBE-_=FMA—H8  JHEEESLDIU
RERE LT E A K EE /80,471,000
TT (FN R 5 1B B8 454,745,00058 7T ) & A&
AN FREETENENEER
79,295,000 7T, (30 Bx 5 48 £ 454,745,000
B o

R-ZE-_RAF=A=+—H  EKRE
SHEEERESPRANIESAN
G HEE(HIBRBERE) £37,854,000%8
(== PU4E : 38,983,000/87T) °

FEM IR Bl & (FNRR BB EE ) #S3Z T 5105
AEH

2025 2024

—E_EHEF =Syt ==

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

On demand or within one year BERY—F R 12,078 16,443
After one year —F1& 25,776 22,540
37,854 38,983

Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets are set
out in note 17.

BREEREMMSFBHNME7 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

16. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Contract liabilities
Contract liabilities primarily relate to the Group's obligation to
transfer project works services to customers for which the Group
has received consideration from the customers in advance. The
contract liabilities as at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 have
been recognised as revenue for the years ended 31 March 2024
and 31 March 2025, respectively. The contract liabilities as at 31
March 2025 will be recognised as revenue for the year ending 31
March 2026.

16.

BHEEREGHNEGB®

BNEE
EHEBETREEAKRERNTEPERIAR
TRRENETER AEECHZE
EEERTEPUEBIRE R-_T_=F
MA-AR-Z-_WF=A=+—HK
BHRESHERSBE_T_MNF=
A=4—BRkR-_ZFE-_RAF=F=+—
BEFENkzE -R-FT_RF=H
Zt-BEMENARKERAR/BE-T
TRF=A=1T—HILFENUE -

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRETREZDNAFE RN 2 6
in the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities: mEANAaERR -
2025 2024
g e R 2 —E_MmEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Revenue recognised that was included in the  F#IaT ASERE LI ABRER
contract liabilities balance on a gross basis ERGENS OB EERTY
for each respective contract at the beginning Eﬁ?ﬁp e
of the year 25,338 2,119

Changes of contract assets and contract liabilities during the year
ended 31 March 2025 were mainly due to (i) changes on progress
of contract works when the Group satisfies the performance
obligations under the contracts or when the relevant services
were completed but not yet been certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the customers
at the end of the reporting period; or (i) reclassification to trade
receivables when the Group has unconditional right to the
consideration.

As at 1 April 2023, the contract liabilities amounted to
HK$2,119,000 on a gross basis for each respective contract and
amounted to HK$943,000 on a net basis for each respective
contract, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

17. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF TRADE
RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group makes periodic
individual assessments on the recover abilities of trade
receivables and contract assets and develops and maintains the
Group's credit risk grading to categorise exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if
not available, the management of the Group uses other publicly
available financial information and the Group’s own trading
records to rate its major customers and other debtors.

17. EZRWAERSNEERE

FHE

RTEEREEERR  AKETEHY
B 5 WA K A K& B/ A U a1
TEBFE  XHERREAEEEE
RBREFAR - ARIEEE HE R E A5 A
B - EEFNFRER TR TR
BREMWME)  BAAKEEEESRE
REMARASOTHER RAEER
SNE ST BXTERPREMER
AFHA -

Internal credit rating Description Basis for recognising ECL
A EBIEERTAR i pus BRANCFEBERENEE
Strong The counterparty, as the department within the Lifetime ECL — not credit-
government, has a low risk of default impaired
585 R HEF (ERBUTERFT) BE VAR RE EHEMEERE-FER
B
Good The counterparties, as listed companies with strong Lifetime ECL - not credit-
financial background based on the published impaired
financial information publicly available in the
market, creditability and good repayment record,
has a low risk of default
Rif RPHFWEREAEEMES S (RENTIS L AR EHEEERE-FER
ASEE TIEMBER) - ERERRIFERCEN EAEY
AR HEORRRE
Satisfactory The counterparties, having no balances past due over  Lifetime ECL — not credit-
30 days or occasionally having certain balances impaired
past due over 30 days and with good repayment
record, has moderate default risk
mE RSEF (WA HEBH30H AR AR E Tk rHREERE-JEEE
BHIRB30H BEFRCE R 4 ) H2 KA R A BIE
Loss There have been significant increase in credit risk Lifetime ECL — credit-
since initial recognition through information impaired
developed internally or external resources
i B AR SMEERAE K 2 B R BN EE R B 1A FHEHEEEE - EERE
RIARFEIE N
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
i/ BREBRTESARABRENBREBAEETE MIHE RIS

B & Al A B SR
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17. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF TRADE

RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS
(Continued)

In determining the ECL, the management of the Group has taken
into account the historical default experience and the financial
position of the counterparties, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, in estimating the probability of default of each of
the trade receivables and contract assets occurring within their
respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon
default in each case. The ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets are estimated individually.

The table below provides information about the exposure to
credit risk and ECL for trade receivables and contract assets
which are assessed individually based on internal credit rating
as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired):

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

17. EZRWAERSNEERE

E2r16)

BETEMEEEER  AEEEEED
EZRERSHFHBER KR LT
o UHRHEBFAMEBENRERE
BAREMETENBEEBERTAR
AR E B B R FRRIAOR 75 @ 89 RT Al
EHFAE - UEFESRUFERAED
BESXANEMERBRFEERERR
BEBANARENE  UREBERATHE
WEK BHRUHIEBREHEENTE
HEEERER R -

TR EEEZGEBGRBERAGNEE
MEERBLRBHEEBENER - &
ZERMBER-_ZE-_AFR-_FT_MOF
AT HMEHEREEEEGEE
BRE) AR A EE TR ETEBIRE
fiy

Average Gross carrying Impairment
Internal credit rating loss rate amount losses
R EBIEERTAR FHBERR AREAE HEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TET

As at 31 March 2025 R-ZBE-_RAF=A=+—H
Strong EE) 0.01% 6,842 1
Good R4F 0.24% 58,912 142
Satisfactory A 0.93% 21,159 197
Loss BB 100.00% 7,798 7,798
94,711 8,138

As at 31 March 2024 RZZE-WNF=ZA=+—H
Strong B 0.02% 6,842 1
Good Rif 0.37% 65,200 243
Satisfactory e 1.40% 8,632 121
Loss 518 100.00% 7,488 7,488
88,162 7,853
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

17. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF TRADE 17. EZERRERENEERE

RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS
(Continued)

A trade receivable or contract asset is written off when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when
the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over
two years past due, whichever occurs earlier.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year in assessing the
loss allowances for the trade receivables and contract assets. The
individual assessment is regularly reviewed by the management
of the Group to ensure relevant information about the specific
debtor is updated.

E2r16)

i IR EMBREFABBEEN KR
o AYEBRKOES  PIIEHKA
EITERUFILWENRD  KEEHE
WHRIBBHEEMFE (ARFHLEER
#) BHRWHBEREHNEESEM

RAFE  HEEZFERWHBEREGHNE
EBBRERAENGEI RN EAR
R EEE - @RIFEHAKEERE
EHIEE - NHERARETESANME
RENE TEH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

17. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF TRADE 17. ESRRRERESNEERE
RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS A ()
(Continued)
The movement of the impairment losses in respect of trade RERN - BERBESEWRIBERENEE
receivables and contract assets during the year is as follows: HREEEZESHT
Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired credit-impaired
2HRBEEER - 2HEBEERR-
FEERE FERE
Trade Contract Trade Contract
receivables assets  receivables assets Total
) LE e BHNEE EZEUTE BNEE #ct

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TRL TR TAT TRL

At 31 March 2023 R-E-=F=A=+—H 62 551 3,294 4,194 8,101
Transfer from contract assetsto AR HIEEBBEE HEN

trade receivables FIE 507 (507) - - -
Reversal of impairment losses ~ RZZZ=FMA—BHR

related to trade receivables and ~ #1E SIEWGIAR & 4]
contract assets recognised at BEEENREEBRE

1 April 2023 (569) - - - (569)
New trade receivables and FREEROIEE FRYGR

contract assets originated BRANEBE-ERRA

during the year - impairment AEER

losses recognised 133 188 - - 321
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-WE=A=+—H 133 232 3,294 4,194 7,853
Transfer to Lifetime ECL-credit- &R ZE2HEHEEEHE -

improved ERANE - (1 - 1 -
Transfer from contract assetsto AL EEEBRZE HENR

trade receivables FE 168 (168) - - -
Reversal of impairment losses ~ RZZ_IFM A —A#R

related to trade receivables 0B ZEBGUERAD

and contract assets recognised  AEMRABEMNREFERRD

at 1 April 2024 (301) - - - (301)
New trade receivables and FREERINEE SEWR

contract assets originated HRAKWEE-CHR

during the year — impairment REERE

losses recognised 98 179 - 309 586
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-RF=A=1+—H 98 242 3,294 4,504 8,138
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

17.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF TRADE
RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS
(Continued)

Changes in the impairment losses in respect of trade receivables
and contract assets are mainly due to:

17. ESEWRERESNEERE
FAd ()

BB SREFARAGNEENRER
BHREZEHTEHRN

2025 2024
—EC-RHF —Z U
Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
2HEHRER 2 HITEHAEE
BB MG EEIEACORk)
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
FEERE EERE FEERE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FATT FATT
Transfer of contrast assets & #EEEZHITEH
in lifetime ECL-not- EEBIETHIEEE
credit-impaired to credit-  JHEEAEERE
impaired (1) 1 - -
Settlement in full of trade BHEFHRAEEBES
receivables with a gross 50,829,000/ 7T &Y
carrying amount of B ZrWRIE
HK$50,829,000 (2024 e Sl 115 ;S
HK$47,616,000) 47,616,000 7T) (301) — (569) -
New trade receivables BRTE 42 1B &57,069,000
and contract assets with BITHIFTIE B 5 R UL
gross carrying amount HERENEE
of HK$57,069,000 (2024: —E O
HK$38,335,000) 38,335,000 7T) 277 309 321 -
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

18.

19.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

As at 31 March 2025, the pledged bank deposits of HK$3,000,000
(2024: HK$3,000,000), which carry interest rate at a range from
2.56% to 2.82% (2024: 0.60% to 3.00%) per annum, have been
pledged to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group
given by a bank as disclosed in note 29.

Bank balances and cash represent cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less at an average interest rate of 3.31% (2024: 4.32%)
per annum as at 31 March 2025.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits and
bank balances are set out in note 27.

18.

SIRFRITER RITERR
He
RZEBE-_RE=A=+—08 #wx
29FTHEE + LAF R RN F2.56%E2.82%
ZE P4 1 0.60%E3.00%) 5t EHIE
K 68 7 77 23,000,000 7L ( = Z — 1
£ 1 3,000,000/870) B EIEIR » LAERIR
TERTFAEEMNRITHE -

BITHEBEBRSEAEEFANRE R
BEHR A=A A THEIERTE
FOR-ZE-REF=A=+—H8FY
FRIRA331%(ZZTZIOF : 432%) °

BRI ER L BITE SR AT G
FEFHIFE27 ©

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. EZ RHMENRKIEA
2025 2024
—E_RF —E_POE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Trade payables B SN FIA 16,509 15,287
Retention payables B RES 5,359 5,101
Provision for reinstatement cost BIRA AT 750 750
Other payables Hh fE (/1A 14 20
Accrued expenses JERTFISZ 2,353 2,257
24,985 23,415
Less: Provision classified as non-current B DB RIEREE D HEBE
portion - (750)
Current portion of trade and other payables &5 Rk EAbFEN FRIBH RENZH 24,985 22,665

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

AT RRBERIRBERZAHNES
FENFIRRRER DT

2025 2024

—B-RF —TNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TExT AT

0 to 30 days 0%30H 16,315 15,287
31 to 60 days 31&260H 194 -
16,509 15,287

The credit period of trade payables is usually ranging from 0 to
30 days.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 19. ES R H MM RIE @)

Trade payables are denominated in currency other than the
functional currency of the respective group entity is set out
below.

NHEESEEREEEININNEEG
EHE 5 EMZIBHSIT -

2025 2024
—EC-hRE B it

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHBT

Renminbi (“"RMB") AREB(TARYE]) 38 46

Retention payables to subcontractors of contract works are
interest-free and payable by the Group after the completion of
maintenance period of the relevant contracts or in accordance
with the terms specified in the relevant contracts for a period
ranging from 1 to 2 years after completion of the relevant works
to the customers.

The retention payables are to be settled at the end of the
reporting period as follows:

BNAHNIRDEANRES SR ER
AHANEENERA OREHTREK
AR A MDAV IR - RN
FEFHER TR R E26 8 -

AP i 5 BAOR A5 1 89 FE AT AR B 2 21 3 4
T

2025 2024

—E-HEF —ETpu4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FA&T

On demand or within one year BREXRY—FRA 2,030 2,609
After one year —Fig 3,329 2,492
5,359 5,101

No movement of provision for reinstatement cost during
both years. The provision for reinstatement cost relates to the
estimated cost of work agreed to be carried out for handing
back the Group's office premises in its original condition.
These amounts have not been discounted for the purposes of
measuring the provision for reinstatement cost as the effect is
insignificant.

RMEFER  ERKRNEEHEZ
B o 1BIRACAN B EL 1 T A TR SR IR R SR
EARERAEWEMAETHTENMG
AARARRE c ZEFLRALEHRAEER
RABEETRE  REAREARZEYL
TEKX -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

20. LEASE LIABILITIES

20. HESE

2025 2024
—E-RF —EUF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Lease liabilities payable: HEBBEERNUATFHRERN
— within one year ——FRX 1,071 2,469
— more than one year but not exceeding ——F LA HEMFIAR
two years 192 1,039
— more than two years but not exceeding —MFLAHERFUAR
five years - 174
1,263 3,682
Less: Amount due for settlement within B BB EE TR 2{E
12 months shown under current AR EHER B FIE
liabilities (1,071) (2,469)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ~ FERBIBEIE T 7R89121E A
shown under non-current liabilities 1& B BRE R B IR 192 1,213

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to

lease liabilities is 5.6% (2024: 5.3%).

As at 31 March 2025, the lease liabilities of HK$760,000 (2024:
HK$2,971,000) are secured by rental deposits with carrying values
of HK$728,000 (2024: HK$728,000) as set out in note 29.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and

21. EEHBEEE

TREJNFAERNEIBRELERRE

movements thereon during the year: ENEES
Loss Loss
allowances  allowances Decelerated
Tax for trade  for contract tax
losses  receivables assets depreciation Total
B S EWRE BNEE R
BIEEE EBERE EiRRE BIEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THT THT THET THET
As at 1 April 2023 RZEZ=6MA—AH 3,819 10 91 367 4,287
(Charged) credited to profit REE (kR A
or loss (675) 12 (53) 107 (609)
As at 31 March 2024 RZZEZE=A=1—H 3,144 2 38 474 3,678
(Charged) credited to profit RE&E (kR A
or loss (342) 6) 2 (98) (444)
As at 31 March 2025 W_E-_RF=A=+—H 2,802 16 40 376 3,234

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$23,932,000 (2024: HK$26,007,000) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of HK$16,981,000 (2024: HK$19,056,000) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining tax losses of HK$6,951,000 (2024: HK$6,951,000) due to

the unpredictability of future profits streams.

MN-EBE-RF=R=+—0  K&£E7T
BB RO ARABARIAEE A
23,932,000/ 7T ( —Z —PU4F : 26,007,000
BIT) - B EE1E16,981,0008 7T( =
T Y4 19,056,000 7T ) HE R IR IE T

THEE ° MR AR S MR EETR -

M B h R T B TE BT 186,951,000 7T (=
LT P04 : 6,951,00058 7T ) FE R IR IE TR 18
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

22. SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 represented the

share capital of the Company.

22. BA&

RZBE_RAFR-_ZE_NF=ZA=1+—

B HBAR IS AR AR BAS ©

Shown in
consolidated
Number of financial
shares Amount statements as
RERE I
BB EE =8 BRP5IR
HK$ HK$'000
BT FAT
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each BR0.01ETH EEK
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 RZZE-=FPmF—H
and 31 March 2025 “ToF=A=+—AHkK
“E-RF=A=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000 N/ATE
Issued and paid: BETRAR
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 RNZZ-=FPmYH/—H
and 31 March 2025 “EoNFE=A=+—HRK
—E-HF=R=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 20,000

23.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

(@) The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying (a)

employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme

are held separately from those of the Group, in funds

under the control of an independent trustee. The Group

contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme,

which contribution is matched by employees but subject

to a maximum amount of HK$1,500 per month for each

employee to the scheme.

The total contributions to the MPF scheme charged to

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are set out in notes 9 and 10.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-ZE_-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

23. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME (Continued)

(b)

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay Long Service Payment
("LSP") to qualifying employees in Hong Kong upon
retirement, subject to a minimum of 5 years employment
period, based on the following formula: Last monthly wages
(before termination of employment) X 2/3 X Years of

service.

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the
amount of LSP shall not exceed HK$390,000. This obligation
is accounted for as a post-employment defined benefit
plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the
Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any
positive/negative returns thereof (collectively, the "Eligible
Offset Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable
to an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”). The LSP
obligation, if any, is presented on a net basis.

The Employment & Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2023
was gazetted on 17 June 2023, which will eventually abolish
the Offsetting Arrangement. The Amendment will come
into effect prospectively from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). Under the amended Ordinance, the Eligible Offset
Amount after the Transition Date can only be applied to
offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but no longer
eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation.
Furthermore, the LSP obligations before the Transition
Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the
Last monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition
Date.

The Group's LSP obligation, taking into consideration the
Offsetting Arrangement, is considered to be insignificant as
at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

23. BIRBRFHE (@)

(b)

RIEFSTE(RBIESG) - AEME
BEEBHERABRANEEBNETE
BEXNEARE S ([ REKR®
) XEHMELRSF - ERMN
TAAHE  RR—EANTE
(42 ILIEBAT) X 2/3 ¥ BRFGFHA -

=% — 8 A TE& LR A22500%5
T MEBRESSENSEA
390,000 7T © &S 1EABERE E
TERFFTEIALR °

BESN - = s Ao il
REDRFF BRI AFAREE A
REBE R FIMERES K - 0
L/ REEFIE " BEF(RES
[EEMRIHER])  AEBEENT
BENEHRGE(EHERHE]) -
RHRBEEH(ME) AFET
o

(ZE = =FER IR EVED
(EEZE) (ERDRGDER=F
“=FXNATLEBTE  &&H
BRI - ZELERKH-F
—hFRAA—A(BERSASR
R e RARIERTRMRD] - BIX B
MR A BRI EER AR
BEAHINEARBEES - B
THAEEREHEBRARRNOEY
RIF TR  LLo - BIE B H 2 Al
R RHIRF &R HHREBIE A H
ZAMRE—EATENE -

ERINEBELY:  AEBRZ=-F
—HFZA=+—BR-ZT-_mF
ZA=Z+t—HZERHERBEEEEH
RELTEK °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to provide incentives or rewards to participants of the
share option scheme including the directors of the Company
and eligible employees of the Group, the shareholders of the
Company passed an ordinary resolution at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 5 March 2020 to approve
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”). No share options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption on 5 March 2020. The major
terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an
incentive or a reward to participants for their contribution
to the Group.

(b) Eligibility
Eligible participants include employees (any full-time or
part-time employees, including executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) and advisers and
consultants of the Group.

(¢) Maximum number of shares
()  The Company may not grant any options if the
number of shares exceeds 30% of the shares in issue
from time to time.

(i) The total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and other schemes must not,
in aggregate, exceed 10% of the shares in issue as of
the listing date, 15 April 2020 (“Listing Date”). On the
basis of 2,000,000,000 shares in issue on the Listing
Date, the scheme mandate limit will be equivalent to
200,000,000 shares, representing 10% of the shares in
issue as of the Listing Date.

(iii)  Subject to the approval of shareholders in general
meeting, the Company may refresh the scheme
mandate limit to the extent that the total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and other schemes under the scheme
mandate limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of
the shares in issue as of the date of such shareholders’
approval.
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Period of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date.

Maximum number of options to any one individual

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to a participant under the
Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares
in issue from time to time. Where any further grant of
options to a participant (the “Further Grant”) would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted and to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and other share option schemes to such
participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of the Further Grant representing in aggregate over
1% of the shares in issue from time to time, the Further
Grant must be separately approved by the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting with such participant and
his close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) (or his
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) if the participant is
a connected person) abstaining from voting.

In relation to the Further Grant, the Company must send a
circular to the shareholders and the circular must disclose
the identity of the relevant participant, the number and
the terms of the options to be granted (and options
previously granted to such participant under the Share
Option Scheme and other share option schemes) and
the information required under the Listing Rules. The
number and terms (including the exercise price) of options
to be granted to such participant must be fixed before
Company'’s shareholders’ approval and the date of meeting
of the board of directors of the Company for proposing
the Further Grant should be taken as the offer date for the
purpose of calculating the exercise price.

24, fBRRRESHEl (@)

(d)

(e)

fB R RERT BV AR
BRERT B L AR + 5
HAFE A M AR

BT @ B A £ 3% HH B8 A RE Y
2E LR

RER12{8 A B8R - FIR IR IR
AT E| M B IR B 2 E A R
HEERE(BEEITERKRITE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
(f) Payment on acceptance of the option
HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the share option offer. The share option offer
will be offered for acceptance for a period of 28 days from
the date on which the offer is granted.

(g) Subscription price for shares
The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a
price determined by the board of directors of the Company
at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares; and
(i) the average closing price of the shares for the five
consecutive business days immediately preceding the
offer date.
(h) The remaining life of the share option

5 years (expiring on 14 April 2030).

No options were granted, lapsed or exercised during the current
year and no share options were outstanding as at 31 March 2025
and 2024.
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25.

26.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into
the following related party transactions:

The remuneration of key management personnel, including
executive directors of the Company and other key executives of
the Group, during the year is as follows:

25.

BB T R 5
BEAMBREA MBS RENZ SR
s REBETTATHBIRS

TEEBRAR(BREARARITESRA
SEEAMERITRAR)RAFE 0 H B
L

2025 2024

—E-HEF —ZF P4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FA&T

Short-term employee benefits mHEERET 10,654 9,231
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RINENET B 143 122
10,797 9,353

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined
by the management of the Group having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group entities
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes lease liabilities and bank borrowings, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves as
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital and will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the raising of net debts or the repayment of the
existing debts.

26.

TREEABNFHEASEEEESE
BEARRETEBLLET -

EXREBER
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SIS - AR BB ES R
miER  EAMRKREOR - AEEH FF
R DA HR BB R 5 A

AEBERREBRREERFE - 25t
BHERBRRITESR  HIKRERE
TEHEEYVRARRHEEARGED (2
RAMBRRAEEND BT R
)

AEEEERB TR EARNRRE - A%
BEBEARALBBEENERNEA
B WHEBSATE - BT AR
EREHFRAEERFEH FEHER
BARRE -

BHRERERERRR / —E_RFFR

161



162

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z-Z_hHF=A=+—HILFE

27. £@TH

Categories of financial instruments SR T BER
2025 2024
—E_REF —E_PUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Financial assets EEEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT RN ERMEE 82,665 111,008
Financial liabilities o h=Ri
Amortised cost B SER R 21,882 20,408

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, refundable rental deposits, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash and trade and other payables. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market
risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk, and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The functional currency of the group entities is HK$, the currency
in which most of the transactions are denominated. The carrying
amounts of the foreign currency denominated monetary liabilities
of the group entity at the end of the reporting period are
disclosed in note 19.

The management of the Group considers that the currency
risk of those monetary liabilities is not significant to the Group.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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27.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation in exchange rate
of RMB against HK$. The following table details the Group's
sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in respective functional
currency (i.e. HK$) against the relevant foreign currency (i.e. RMB).
10% is the sensitivity rate used which represents the Group's
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in a foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the year end for a 10% change in a
foreign currency rate. A positive number below indicates an

27. EMTA@®)
HEEREERERBEE)
A ()

EHmpR ()

AEBTEAT ARELBITHEXR
BER - TRFMANEEREBHINE
B (BB TT) SAARINE (BDARYE) 7+
BERAZE10%MEUEE ° 10%2F KKK
AEEEEBHERAEHBEAERZL
MFHERSREL X - REDITER
BARBIMNEHEERIER - RERHM
10%0E RS FEEHBE - TXH LR
RETTHARETEI10%E - BrETEET]
BN - BT ARBAZE10% - RIBRRH

increase in post-tax profit where HK$ strengthens 10% against BaRANBHRESFERANZE AR
RMB. For a 10% weakening of HK$ against RMB, there would TXWEERBEL -
be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit and the
amount below would be negative.
2025 2024
HK$’'000 HK$ 000
FERT TR
RMB against HK$ AR H BT 3 4

Interest rate risk

The cash flow interest rate risk relate primarily to the bank
balances at the prevailing market deposit rate. The Group is also
exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to the Group's
fixed-rate pledged bank deposits and lease liabilities. The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management of the Group monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

The management of the Group consider the Group's exposure
of bank balances and pledged bank deposit to interest rate is
not significant as interest bearing bank balances are within short
maturity period.

BenflxEkEZENERITN SR
ARG BHIRITAERR - NEE I HER
BRAASEESEEMRITFRLEE

BENRAFENERR - AEEB AL
ARG L - Ry AEBMEIRE
ERMERBRIUENEERERBLETE
RFR @

AEEETRERS  AEERITHEMRK
Ejﬁﬁ#ﬁﬁﬁ ﬁ/ﬂ\ﬁﬁﬁﬁunm%”?ﬂ’z»jfx
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27.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and
contract assets

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has concentration of credit
risk on trade receivables as 41% (2024: 90%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the Group's five largest customers,
though no any balances of the total trade receivables were due
from the Group's largest customer (2024: 41%).

The management of the Group has made periodic individual
assessment on recoverability of trade receivables and contract
assets based on historical settlement records and adjusted for
forward-looking information. In determining the lifetime ECL for
trade receivables and contract assets, the management of the
Group has taken into account the historical default experience
and forward-looking information, as appropriate. Details of the
impairment assessment on trade receivables and contract assets
are set out in note 17.

The directors of the Company manages the credit risk of trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers and contract
assets by closely monitoring the instalment settlement prior to
dates close to each agreed settlement dates, and obtaining the
credit-related information about the customer. Before the end
of the reporting period, through continuous dialogue with the
customers, the Group has been informed the delay in payments
for the instalments due in the coming twelve months. Therefore,
the Group recognised an impairment loss of HK$7,798,000
(2024: HK$7,488,000) in respect of the entire balances of trade
receivables and retention receivables due from customers as at
31 March 2025.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 27. €I B

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and

MEREREEREREEE)

BERRERBERGE(E)
BEFEHNRENEEELNE S BEKH

contract assets (Continued) H(E)
The delay in payment is caused by the significant change in the IEENREBEREEMISHREXNE L

Hong Kong market resulting in a significant financial difficulty
faced by the customer and therefore, the trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers and contract assets is regarded as
default. Therefore, ECL is measured on a lifetime credit-impaired
basis. The measurement of ECL of trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers and contract assets is determined
based on the expectation of cash flows to be recovered from
the customer. In this process, the management has taken into
account quantitative and qualitative information that are specific
to the customer, including macroeconomic factors which are
relevant to the customer’s operations that could significantly
affect the customer’s ability to fulfill its repayment obligations.

Other receivables
Details of the impairment assessment on other receivables
(including refundable rental deposits) are set out in note 15.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The management of the Group considers the bank balances that
are deposited with financial institutions with high credit rating to
be low credit risk financial assets. The management of the Group
considers the probability of default is negligible and accordingly,
no loss allowance is recognised.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management of the Group to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity and the management of the Group monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensure compliance with loan
covenants. The Group’s management believes that the Group
will have sufficient working capital for its future operational
requirement.
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27.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up to reflect the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity date for non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is

27.

£RT B
BRREBEERERBE(E)

REBEEEK(E)

T?@#LK%.?E@TEiWE BB T A
WENEER - TRERMEHEEREER
ReRE EE*E}F$EI§JTAE;A1—J'TA
WExFEBEL - FTELREBENE
HENMENERBBARE - TRBEE
Z"J ERASRERE - MABRERZ
C ARBR S FARIRE REHRAOA

L‘

$

derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
More than
Weighted  On demand 3 months Total
average  orlessthan but less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months Tyear  1-5years  cash flows amount
T BERY, EB=fEA KAEB
Mz ORZER EIR-F —-ZE1% RERBAR REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
Non-derivative financial liabilities {74 ¢RERE
At 31 March 2025 R-B-RF=A=1-H
Trade and other payables B5RAMENTIE N/ATER 17,965 588 3329 21,882 21,882
Lease liabilities HEAR 5.6 657 443 196 1,296 1,263
18,622 1,031 3,525 23,178 23,145
Non-derivative financial liabilities #fT4&®EE
At 31 March 2024 R-F-MF=A=1-H
Trade and other payables BARHMENTE N/ATEA 17,358 558 2492 20,408 20,408
Lease liabilities HEBE 53 650 1,949 1,248 3,847 3,682
18,008 2,507 3,740 24,255 24,090
Fair value measurements of financial instruments TRIANAFETE
The management of the Group considers that the carrying AEEERERS  REHKANERD
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded PREERSRBENGEMBHREXA

at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting period.
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28.

29.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from or used in financing activities.

28.

MEEBMELEREIHR

TRINFEAREEDFELARS
BH(LERERARLED) - BET
B ELEHARSNEERARICR
SHERRAEBEARSHERRE

RBERPMBIMARSRENALE -

Accrued
Bank Leases interest
borrowings liabilities expenses Total
PRt
RITER HEAE FIEBAX st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHTT FATT FAT
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FWMNA—AH 28,788 5,947 38 34,773
Financing cash flows MERERE (28,788) (2,583) (1,238) (32,609)
Interest expenses F B - 246 1,200 1,446
Recognition of new leases FERFIEE - 72 - 72
At 31 March 2024 R-ZT_—WF
=A=+—H - 3,682 - 3,682
Financing cash flows MELRENE - (2,612) (6) (2,618)
Interest expenses B - 130 6 136
Recognition of new leases FERFIEE - 63 - 63
At 31 March 2025 i Tk
=A=+—H - 1,263 - 1,263
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 29. EEIKHF
As at 31 March 2025, the pledged bank deposits of HK$3,000,000 RZEZRF=A=+—8 " #HwH
(2024: HK$3,000,000) have been pledged to secure the banking 18N E EEMMBITERK

facilities granted to the Group given by a bank as disclosed in
notes 18 and 30.

As at 31 March 2025, the lease liabilities of HK$760,000 (2024:
HK$2,971,000) are secured by rental deposits with carrying values
of HK$728,000 (2024: HK$728,000) as set out in note 20.

3,000,000 7T (—ZZ — PO 4 : 3,000,000/
TO)EAEEE - UERETE T AEEK
IRITRLE -

BMANKIE20FE c RZE-_RAF=A
=+—H HE&E760,000%T(=
T PULE 1 2,971,000/ 7T ) AR EE A
728,000/ 70 ( —Z — P04 : 728,000/ 7T)
RMHEEZEEERA -
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30. PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES

31.

As at 31 March 2025, surety bonds of an aggregate balance of
HK$20,735,000 (2024: HK$11,890,000) were given by financial
institutions in favour of the Group's customers as security for the
performance and observance of the Group's obligations under
the construction contracts entered into between the Group
and the customers. If the Group fails to provide satisfactory
performance to the customers to whom the performance
guarantees have been given, such customers may demand the
financial institutions to pay to them the sum or sum stipulated
in such demand. The Group will become liable to compensate
such financial institutions accordingly. The performance
guarantees will be released upon completion of the contract
works. The performance guarantees were granted under letters
of guarantees of the Group and were not secured by any of the
Group's pledged bank deposits as at 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company provided a guarantee (the
“Parent Company Guarantee”) for the performance of all
obligations and liabilities of a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (the "Sub-Contract Subsidiary”) under a construction
contract (the “Sub-Contract”) entered into between the Sub-
Contract Subsidiary and the contractor (the “Main Contractor”) of
the Sub-Contract. The maximum liability of the Company under
the Parent Company Guarantee shall be limited to HK$22,830,000
(2024: HK$22,830,000), which is approximately 10.0% of the
contract sum of the Sub-Contract. The Parent Company
Guarantee will be released upon the date of completion stated
in the certificate of completion in accordance with the main
contract signed between the Main Contractor and the employer
of the Main Contractor.

The management of the Group does not consider it is probable
that a claim will be made against the Group in respect of the
above performance guarantees.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, right-of-use assets with
a total capital value of HK$63,000 (2024: HK$72,000), with the
corresponding amount of lease liabilities of HK$63,000 (2024:
HK$72,000) were recognised.
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

32. AR RMBARRE

2025 2024
—E-R4E —EFpUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets EmBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B A BRI E 2 2
Amount due from subsidiaries A ESNEIE S 28,000 28,000
28,002 28,002
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables E b U IR 345 353
Amount due from subsidiaries [ R PNGIE e 69,735 70,910
Bank balances and cash IRTTHEBEIRS 289 162
70,369 71,425
Current liabilities mENEE
Other payables H A RIA 64 112
Amounts due to a subsidiary FER — R B A RI5kIA 1 1
65 113
Net current assets mEEEFE 70,304 71,312
Net assets BEFE 98,306 99,314
Capital and reserves BR R
Share capital (note 22) R (B3E22) 20,000 20,000
Reserves w15 78,306 79,314
Total equity b k| 98,306 99,314
Movement in the Company’s reserves: NN B REEEE -
Retained
profits
Share (accumulated
premium loss) Total
RE =R
R RE (RstEE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT T T
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FMNA—H 79,219 1,305 80,524
Loss and total comprehensive S REE N2 HEH S B
expense for the year - (1,210) (1,210)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NFE=A=+—H 79,219 95 79,314
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREIE N 2 HEF T B5E
expense for the year - (1,008) (1,008)
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-RAF=A=+—H 79,219 913) 78,306
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33. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 and

33. MEBARFHE
R-E-—RER-_E-_NE=A=+—
B ARFHMBRRFBENT

2024 are as follows:

170

Place and Issued and
date of Place of fully paid Equity interests
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation share capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
WELARER AMRIBERAS  SEHY BRTRARRE AREEERE IRRHED
2025 2024
ZZCRE oA
% %
Directly held:
ERKA:
Plateau Star Limited BVI Hong Kong US$100 100 100 Investment holding
3May 2018
Plateau Star Limited EEERREE & 100%7T RARR
—Z-)\¥1A=H
HCD Capital Limited BVI Hong Kong US$100 100 100 Investment holding
29 January 2024
HCD Capital Limited ﬁ%”ﬁﬂﬁﬁ% i 100%7 RERR
e 12
—A=thA
Indirectly held:
BEER
ICGL Hong Kong Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Design, supply and installation
4 May 2007 services of facade works and
building metal finishing works
LREEER B B 10,000,007 IMETIRREESBHE TR
—ERLERANA Ret » HERZERB
HCD Intemnational Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Provision of corporate
9 February 2024 management services
RLElEERERAR &R &R 2B RECKERRE
“F-RE-ANR
SUE(BR)ERERA The People’s Republic of PRC RMB300,000 100 - Dormant
China ("PRC")
27 May 2024
AB(ER)ERERAR EPE)?/\R HE(HE)) +& ARH300,0007T TEXH
“TomE
EAZttR

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the

end of the reporting period.
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34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 34. REHREIE
Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group had entered into REEHE - AEEME—EERFEM
a joint venture agreement with a company incorporated in Macau BB R RIRISL A E ek - AR —
for the establishment of a joint venture company to operate a BERE  RMRPFIRERILKEE @ &
North-eastern Chinese cuisine restaurant in Macau, details of BARENARRIBHA-—S _AFH
which were set out in the Company’s announcements dated 23 AZ+=AR=ZZE_RAFHAA=THHN
May 2025 and 30 May 2025 respectively. N
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Financial Summary

MBHE

The financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years, ZA%ERBEE A EH KT E M E (FHk
BEZED MK EZESMBRK) H0

as extracted from those published audited consolidated financial

statements, is set forth below. o
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS LE¥E
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

—ECRFE ZDEoNF —TB-o—F —TE-__—F —ETE-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T F&TT T FAT

Revenue Wiz 259,826 242,638 190,621 223,991 220,788
Gross profit =7 26,184 26,393 12,819 2,473 50,373
Profit (loss) before taxation BrERT R A (E5E) 3,637 3,929 (8,109) (26,600) 25,954
Income tax (expense) credit  FTEH(FXZ)E R (444) (609) 7 3,944 (4,218)
Profit (loss) and total FRaH (EE) kel

comprehensive income Wk ()4

(expense) for the year 3,193 3,320 (8,102) (22,656) 21,736
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HEEEREE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

“E-RFE —FoUF —Fo=F T —F T -—F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
FHExT F&T FHBT F&TT FHBT

Total assets mAE 160,768 172,197 171,845 175688 210,244
Total liabilities mARE 31,805 46,416 49,384 45,125 37,025
Total equity AR 128,963 125781 122,461 130,563 173,219

Note: The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial 5k : EilEEW MERCEZELRE P BHREA—HH °
statements.
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